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FINANCIAL

Years Ended December 31,

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Net Sales $ 824,283 $ 678,783 $ 598437
Operating Income 1,737) 15815 25,068
Earnings (Loss) From Continuing Operations (8,907) 224 6,091
Net Loss $ (14,380) $ (1.518) $ (30,556)
Per Share:

Earnings (Loss) From Continuing Operations - Diluted $ (0.46) $ 0.01 $ 0.5]

Net Loss - Diluted (0.74) (0.10) (2.54)

Dividends 0.36 0.36 0.36
Stock Price at Year End $ 15.80 $ 12.15 $ 13.00
Average Number of Common and Dilutive Shares 19,331,358 15,793,008 12,008,496
Assets $ 656,569 $ 694,525 $ 490,758
Stockholders’ Equity $ 207,312 $ 226,04! $ 153,881
Total Debt to Capitalization 52.0% 49.1% 53.5%

About the Company

Standard Motor Products, Inc. supplies functional replacement parts for the aftermarket for the
engine management and temperature control systems of cars, trucks, buses and tractors. The
Company services all makes and models, both new and older cars, imported and domestic.
These products are sold primarily in the United States, Canada, Europe, Latin America and in
many other countries. The Company employs approximately 4,100 people at its factories and
distribution centers in North America, Europe and Hong Kong.

Annual Stockholders’ Meeting

The Standard Motor Products, Inc. Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on Thursday,
May 19, 2005 at 2:00 PM at JPMorgan Chase, One Chase Manhattan Plaza, New York, NY 10031.
A notice of this meeting, together with a proxy statement, is being mailed to all stockholders on
or about April 19, 2005.
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2004 will be remembered as a year in which our people
faced extraordinary challenges and accomplished a great deal.
Unfortunately, for reasons we discuss below, these accomplish-
ments were not fully reflected in our 2004 results. We firmly
believe, however, that we have set the foundation for a strong

2005, and for many years to come.

The key focus in 2004 was the integration of Dana’s

Lawrence LSils Engine Management (DEM) division into SMP. To review, we
Chairman of the Board and CEO acquired this business on June 30, 2003, and established for
ourselves the following three goals: first, to maintain the DEM

customer base and the $250 million existing revenues; second,

to complete all physical moves by the end of 2004, with a one-

time cost not to exceed $35 million; third, to achieve synergies

and cost savings of $50-$55 million. As DEM was incurring
an operating loss of $1 million per month at the time of the

acquisition, this will result in an operating profit improvement

of roughly $40 million.

With 2004 now complete, we can evaluate our progress
towards these goals. Overall, we have done quite well. First,
we have maintained the entire DEM customer base. In fact, our
combined Engine Management volume - Standard plus DEM -
was 11% ahead of 2003 in the fourth quarter and 6% ahead for
the six months in which we had both lines. This was an excellent

achievement by our entire sales organization.

Second, the physical moves were completed on time and
within budget. This was a massive undertaking. We closed
N seven of the nine acquired facilities and transferred the operations
‘ to existing Standard locations. The moves involved every aspect

of our business - manufacturing, distribution, finance, 1T, human
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TO OUR '

resources, sales and marketing. I am proud to say that our people did an excellent

job and that these moves are now complete, and the costs were below budget.

We have begun to achieve the third goal, but it is taking somewhat longer
than we first anticipated. There are several reasons for this. First, in hindsight, we
underestimated the learning curve for the hundreds of new employees we added
which caused us to fall short of our normal operating efficiencies in 2004. We are
improving on a monthly basis, and expect to be at our historical levels during the

second half of this year.

Second, we identified more than $8 million of material cost savings, slightly
above our original forecast, but could not fully implement them until existing DEM
inventories were consumed. Again, we will start to achieve the bulk of these savings

during the second half of 2005.

Third, in order to maintain shipping levels during the transition, critical to
keeping the customers, we purchased a fair amount of product on the outside, often
at substantial premiums. We no longer need to do this, as our production is back to

normal, but these additional costs impacted our 2004 results.

For the most part, these issues are behind us, and our other cost saving
initiatives are on target. Our best estimate now is that we will begin operating at the

annualized $50-%$55 million rate in the second half of 2005.

Turning to our other divisions, Four Seasons experienced its second cool
summer in a row. In certain parts of the country, it was the coldest summer in over
100 years. Our gross sales fell by $21 million, but our people did an excellent job
reducing costs to maintain a $2.7 million operating profit for the year, before the
goodwill impairment charge. Heading into 2005, we are anticipating improvements
as a result of additional OES (Original Equipment Service) Temperature Control
business and further cost cutting initiatives. Turning around Four Seasons remains

an important goal for the Company, and we are confident we can do this.
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Our European business showed substantial improvement over the prior
year, though it still has a way to go to achieve solid profitability. We have plans

in place for further improvements in 2005.

As with most other public companies, 2004 was a challenging year in
the area of finance. Not only did we have to focus on the DEM integration and
engage new accounting firms, but we had to devote a significant amount of time,
manpower and financial resources to the extensive requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As part of our Sarbanes-Oxley evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal controls, we identified certain material weaknesses.
Since the discovery of these weaknesses, we have taken, and will be taking,
various actions to remediate these items. Our remediation activities are among
our highest priorities, and we are confident that our activities will correct the

identified weaknesses in our internal controls.

One final point, Jack Kelsey has elected to retire from our Board of
Directors after nearly 40 years of service. We will truly miss his wisdom and

sagacious advice, and wish him a healthy and well-deserved retirement.

Lawrence I. Sills

Lottt

Chairman of the Board
and CEO

CEO and CFO Certifications

In 2004 Standard Motor Products’ chief executive officer (CEQ) provided to the
New York Stock Exchange the annual CEO certification regarding Standard’s
compliance with the New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance listing
standards. In addition, Standard’'s CEO and chief financial officer filed with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission all required certifications regarding the
quality of Standard’s public disclosures in its fiscal 2004 reports.
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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
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M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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New York 11-1362020
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(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
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Common Stock, par value $2.00 per share New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not
be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part 111
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. &

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).
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The aggregate market value of the voting common stock based on the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30,
2004 (the last business day of registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter) of $14.73 per share held by non-affiliates of
the registrant was $209,650,956. For purposes of the foregoing calculation, all directors and officers have been deemed to be
affiliates, but the registrant disclaims that any of such are affiliates.

As of the close of business on February 28, 2005, there were 19,833,728 outstanding shares of the registrant’s common stock, par
value $2.00 per share.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part 111 of this Report, to the extent not set forth herein, is incorporated herein by reference from the
registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 2005, which definitive proxy
statement shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which
this Report relates.
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PART 1

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Standard Motor Products,” "“we,” "us,” “our” and the

“Company " refer to Standard Motor Products, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context requires
otherwise. This Report contains historical information and forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements in this Report are indicated by words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “intends,”
“plans,” “estimates,” “projects” and similar expressions. These statements represent our expectations
based on current information and assumptions and are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. Our
actual results could differ materially from those which are anticipated or projected as a result of certain
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, economic and market conditions; the performance of
the aftermarket sector; changes in business relationships with our major customers and in the timing, size
and continuation of our customers’ programs; the ability of our customers to achieve their projected
sales; competitive product and pricing pressures, increases in production or material costs that cannot
be recouped in product pricing; successful integration of acquired businesses; product liability
(including, without limitation, those related to estimates to asbestos-related contingent liabilities)
matters,; as well as other risks and uncertainties, such as those described under Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and those detailed herein and from time to time in the filings
of the Company with the SEC. Those forward-looking statements are made only as of the date hereof, and
the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise the forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise. In addition, historical information should not be
considered as an indicator of future performance.

"o

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a leading independent manufacturer and distributor of replacement parts for motor vehicles in the
automotive aftermarket industry. We are organized into two major operating segments, each of which
focuses on a specific line of replacement parts. Our Engine Management Segment manufactures ignition
and emission parts, on-board computers, ignition wires, battery cables and fuel system parts. Our
Temperature Control Segment manufactures and remanufactures air conditioning compressors, and other
air conditioning and heating parts.

We sell our products primarily to warehouse distributors and large retail chains in the United States,
Canada and Latin America. We also sell our products in Europe through our European Segment. Our
customers consist of many of the leading warehouse distributors, such as CARQUEST and NAPA Auto
Parts, as well as many of the leading auto parts retail chains, such as Advance Auto Parts, AutoZone,
CSK Auto, O’Reilly Automotive and Pep Boys. We distribute parts under our own brand names, such as
Standard, Blue Streak, BWD Automotive, Niehoff, Hayden and Four Seasons, and through private labels,
such as CARQUEST and NAPA Auto Parts.

Business Strategy

Our goal is to grow revenues and earnings and deliver returns in excess of our cost of capital by providing
high quality, low cost replacement parts in the engine management and temperature control automotive
aftermarkets. The key elements of our strategy are as follows:

¢ Maintain Our Strong Competitive Position in the Engine Management and Temperature
Control Businesses. We are one of the leading independent manufacturers serving North
America and other geographic areas in our core businesses of Engine Management and
Temperature Control. We believe that our success is attributable to our emphasis on product
quality, the breadth and depth of our product lines for both domestic and imported automobiles,
and our reputation for outstanding customer service, as measured by rapid order turn-around
times and high-order fill rates.



To maintain our strong competitive position in our markets, we remain committed to the
following:

] providing our customers with broad lines of high quality engine management and
temperature control products, supported by the highest level of customer service
and reliability;

© continuing to maximize our production and distribution efficiencies;
continuing to improve our cost position; and

® focusing further our engineering development efforts.

¢ Provide Superior Customer Service, Product Availability and Technical Support. Our goal
is to increase sales to existing and new customers by leveraging our skills in rapidly filling orders,
maintaining high ievels of product availability and providing technical support in a cost-effective
manner. In addition, our technically-skilled sales force professionals provide product selection
and application support to our customers.

¢ Evolve and Expand our Product Lines. We intend to increase our sales by continuing to
develop and expand the range of Engine Management and Temperature Control products that we
offer to our customers. We are committed to investing the resources necessary to maintain and
expand our technical capability to manufacture multiple product lines that incorporate the latest
technologies developed by original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in North America and
Europe.

¢ Broaden Our Customer Base. Our goal is to increase our business by marketing our products
more broadly to the distribution businesses of OEMs who sell products to new car dealer service
areas.

» Improve Operating Efficiency and Cost Position. Our management places significant emphasis
on improving our financial performance by achieving operating efficiencies and improving asset
utilization, while maintaining product quality and high customer order fill rates. We have a
proven track record of managing costs and improving operating efficiency through consolidating
redundant functions and realizing cost savings in our business. We intend to continue to improve
our operating efficiency and cost position by:

® increasing cost-effective vertical integration in key product lines through internal
development;

° focusing on efficient inventory management, including warranty and overstock
return management;

® maintaining and improving our cost effectiveness and competitive responsiveness
to better serve the automotive afiermarket customer base;

. adopting company-wide programs geared toward manufacturing and distribution
efficiency; and

° initiating company-wide overhead and operating expense cost reduction programs,

such as closing excess facilities.

e Cash Utilization. We intend to apply any excess cash flow from operations and the management
of working capital to reduce our outstanding indebtedness, pay dividends and repurchase our
stock.




Acquisition of Dana Engine Management Group

On June 30, 2003, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and assumed
substantially all of the operating liabilities of Dana Corporation’s Engine Management Group (“DEM?”).
DEM’s customers consist of many of the leading warehouse distributors, such as NAPA Auto Parts, as
well as many of the leading auto parts retail chains, such as CSK Auto, O’Reilly Automotive and Pep
Boys. Certain of these customers are already our customers to a limited extent or are our customers in
different of our product lines. DEM’s products enjoy strong brand recognition with its many leading
automotive product names, including BWD Automotive and Niehoff, as well as with private labels
through NAPA Auto Parts. In connection with the acquisition, we have reviewed our operations and
implemented integration plans to restructure the operations of DEM, including closing seven of the nine
acquired DEM facilities. See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation” for further discussion.

On February 3, 2004, we acquired inventory from the Canadian distribution operation of DEM for
approximately $1 million. We have relocated such inventory into our distribution facility in Mississauga,
Canada.

The Automotive Aftermarket

The automotive aftermarket industry is comprised of a large, diverse number of manufacturers varying in
product specialization and size. In addition to manufacturing, aftermarket companies allocate resources
towards an efficient distribution process and product engineering in order to maintain the flexibility and
responsiveness on which their customers depend. Aftermarket manufacturers must be efficient producers of
small lot sizes and do not have to provide systems engineering support. A ftermarket manufacturers also
must distribute, with rapid turnaround times, products for a full range of vehicles on the road. The primary
customers of the automotive aftermarket manufacturers are national and regional warehouse distributors,
large retail chains, automotive repair chains and the dealer service networks of OEMs.

During periods of economic decline or weakness, more automobile owners may choose to repair their
current automobiles using replacement parts rather than purchasing new automobiles, which benefit the
automotive aftermarket industry, including suppliers like us. The automotive aftermarket industry is also
dependent on new car sales, although to a lesser degree than OEMs and their suppliers, because these
sales create the total number of cars available for repair. Aggressive financing programs by automakers
has increased demand for new cars and trucks, which should benefit the automotive aftermarket
manufacturers in the long term as vehicles age.

The automotive aftermarket industry differs substantially from the OEM supply business. Unlike the
OEM supply business that primarily follows trends in new car production, the automotive aftermarket
industry’s performance primarily tends to follow different trends, such as:

growth in number of vehicles on the road;
increase in average vehicle age;

increase in total miles driven per year;

new and modified environmental regulations;
increase in pricing of new cars; and

new car quality and related warranties.

Traditionally, the parts manufacturers of OEMs and the independent manufacturers who supply the
original equipment part applications have supplied a majority of the business to new car dealer networks.
However, Ford and General Motors have recently moved to make their parts manufacturers more
independent, which may provide future opportunities for us to supply replacement parts to the dealer
service networks of the OEMs, both for warranty and out-of-warranty repairs.



Financial Information about our Operating Segments

The table below shows our consolidated net sales by operating segment and by major product group
within each segment for the three years ended December 31, 2004. Our three reportable operating
segments are Engine Management (which includes DEM as of June 30, 2003), Temperature Control and
Europe. ‘

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
(Dollars in thousands)
Engine Management;
[gnition and Emission
PartS ... $ 459452 55.7% $337,134 49.7% $232,511 38.9%
Wires and Cables 92,868 11.3% 69,528 10.2% 63,267 10.6%
Fuel System Parts..... . 10,449 1.3% 7,713 1.1% 7,334 12%
Total Engine Management ............ 562,769 68.3% 414,375 61.0% 303,112 50.7%
Temperature Control:
COMPIESSOrS .....ccvvuvirrarrraerenoens 85,403 10.4% 89,676 13.2% 105,301 17.6%
Other Air Conditioning
Pants ... 113,223 13.7% 117,720 17.3% 136,973 22.9%
Heating Parts................. . 11,468 1.4% 12,180 1.8% 12,814 2.1%
Total Temperature Control.......... 210,094 25.5% 219,576 32.3% 255,088 42.6%
Europe:
Engine Management Parts ........ 25,539 3.1% 27,514 4.1% 26,575 44%
Temperature Control Parts........ 15,112 1.8% 12,627 1.5% 9,453 1.6%
Total Europe..........cvcronncn. 40,651 4.9% 40,141 6.0% 36,028 6.0%
AlOther...........ccoovivinnniicncnecn 10,769 1.3% 4,691 0.7% 4,209 0.7%
Total........ccoooocvirrrcreercnnne $824,283 100.0% $678,783 100.0% $598,437 100.0%
The following table shows our operating profit and identifiable assets by operating segment for the three
years ended December 31, 2004,
Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Operating Identifiable Operating Identifiable Operating Identifiable
Profit Assets Profit Assets Profit Assets
(In thousands)
Engine Management............... $24,549 $ 429,631 $ 31,871 $ 448,687 $41,844 $247,318
Temperature Control ... 2,114) 125,656 4,702 150,248 10,095 157,343
(2,034) 30,936 (3,605) 31,188 (10,464) 30,728
(22,138) 70,346 (17,153) 64,402 (16,407) 55369
$(1,737) $ 656,569 $ 15815 $ 694,525 $ 25,068 $ 490,758

“All Other” consists of items pertaining to our corporate headquarters function, as well as our Canadian
business unit that do not meet the criteria of a reportable operating segment.

Engine Management Segment

Breadth of Products. In our Engine Management Segment (which includes DEM as of June 30, 2003),
replacement parts for ignition and emission control systems accounted for approximately 56%, 50% and
39% of our consolidated net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These parts include distributor
caps and rotors, electronic ignition control modules, voltage regulators, coils, switches, sensors and EGR
valves. We are a basic manufacturer of many of the ignition parts we market and continue to develop
ways of increasing the number of parts we manufacture, rather than purchasing such parts from third
parties. We believe that our acquisition of the Independence, Kansas DEM facility further enhances our
ability to be a basic manufacturer of ignition and emission control products.
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Computer Controlled Technology. Nearly all new vehicles are factory-equipped with
computer-controlled engine management systems to control ignition, emission and fuel injection. The
on-board computers monitor inputs from many types of sensors located throughout the vehicle, and
control a myriad of valves, switches and motors to manage engine and vehicle performance. Electronic
ignition systems enable the engine to improve fuel efficiency and reduce the level of hazardous fumes in
exhaust gases.

In 1992, we entered into a 50/50 joint venture in Canada with Blue Streak Electronics, Inc. to rebuild
automotive engine management computers and mass air flow sensors. The volume of products produced
by the joint venture are sold primarily to us and has positioned us as a key supplier in the growing
remanufactured electronics markets. The Blue Streak joint venture has further expanded its product range
to include computers used in temperature control, anti-lock brake systems and air bags, and development
of diagnostic repair tools.

We divide our electronic operations between product design and highly automated manufacturing
operations in Orlando, Florida and assembly operations, which are performed in assembly plants in
Orlando and Hong Kong.

Government emission laws have been implemented throughout the majority of the United States. The
Clean Air Act, as amended in 1990, imposes strict emission control test standards on existing and new
vehicles, and remains the preeminent legislation in the area of vehicle emissions. As many states have
implemented required inspection/maintenance tests, the Environmental Protection Agency, through its
rulemaking ability, has also encouraged both manufacturers and drivers to reduce vehicle emissions. As
the Clean Air Act was “phased in” beginning in 1994, automobiles must now comply with emission
standards from the time they were manufactured, and in most states, until the last day they are in use. This
law has, and in the future we expect this law and other new government emission laws to have, a positive
impact on sales of our ignition and emission controls parts. Vehicles failing these new, more stringent
tests have required repairs utilizing parts sold by us.

Our sales of sensors, valves, solenoids and related parts have increased steadily as automobile
manufacturers equip their cars with more complex engine management systems.

Wire and Cable Products. Wire and cable parts accounted for approximately 11%, 10% and 11% of our
consolidated net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These products include ignition (spark plug)
wires, battery cables and a wide range of electrical wire, terminals, connectors and tools for servicing an
automobile’s electrical system.

The largest component of this product line is the sale of ignition wire sets. We have historically offered a
premium brand of ignition wires and battery cables which capitalize on the market’s awareness of the
importance of quality.

In 1999, we relocated two of our wire and cable operations, one in Dallas, Texas and the other in
Bradenton, Florida, to a new facility in Reynosa, Mexico. The Mexican operation focuses on assembly
and packaging of the economy wire sets, while our premium line is manufactured at our facility in
Edwardsville, Kansas.

With the acquisition of the DEM business, we acquired the ability to extrude high voltage wire in
Mishawaka, Indiana to be used in our ignition wire sets. This vertical integration of a critical component
offers us the ability to achieve lower costs and our own controlled source of supply and quality.



Temperature Control Segment

We manufacture, remanufacture and market a full line of replacement parts for automotive temperature
control (air conditioning and heating systems) engine cooling systems, power window accessories and
windshield washer systems, primarily under the brand names of Four Seasons, Factory Air, Murray,
NAPA, CARQUEST, Hayden, Imperial and Aci. The major product groups sold by our Temperature
Control Segment are new and remanufactured compressors, clutch assemblies, blower and radiator fan
motors, dryers, evaporators, accumulators, hoses, heater cores, heater valves, fan assemblies, fan clutches,
engine oil coolers, transmission coolers, window lift motors and windshield washer pumps. Our
temperature control products accounted for approximately 26%, 32% and 43% of our consolidated net
sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

A major factor in the Temperature Control Segment’s business is the federal regulation of ozone
depleting chlorofluorocarbon refrigerants. United States legislation phased out the production of domestic
R-12 refrigerant (e.g., DuPont’s Freon) completely by the end of 1995. As the new law became effective,
vehicle air conditioners needing repair or recharge were retrofitted to use the new R-134a refrigerant.
New vehicle manufacturers began to use the new R-134a refrigerant in 1993. Today all vehicles produced
in North America have this refrigerant, and the vast majority of the U.S. vehicle fleet uses this refrigerant.
Service dealers continue to seek training and certification in this technology, and our Temperature
Control Segment has taken the lead in providing this training and certification. Additionally, we
reengineered our compressor product offering to be able to operate efficiently utilizing either R-12 or
R-134a refrigerants, and remain a leader in providing retrofit kits for conversion of R-12 systems.

Our customers are leading warehouse distributors, national program distribution groups, retail auto parts
chains, specialty market distributors and original equipment service parts organizations supplying
replacement parts for domestic and import passenger cars, trucks and equipment.

Europe Segment

In July 1996, we acquired an equity interest in Standard Motor Products (SMP) Holdings Limited
(formerly Intermotor Holdings Limited) located in Nottingham, England. During 2002, we acquired the
remaining equity interest bringing the Company’s ownership percentage to 100%. SMP Holdings Limited
manufactures and distributes a broad line of engine management products primarily to customers in
Europe. Also in 1996, we expanded our presence in Europe by opening a European distribution center in
Strasbourg, France for temperature control products. A joint venture (Blue Streak Europe) between SMP
Holdings Limited and Blue Streak Electronics was also initiated in 1996, which joint venture supplies
rebuilt engine computers for the European market.

Since 1996, we have made a series of smaller acquisitions supplementing both the Engine Management
and Temperature Control portions of our business. With respect to the engine management business, in
January 1999 we acquired Webcon UK Limited, an assembler and distributor of fuel system components,
which we subsequently divested in June 2003 incurring an $0.8 million loss. In January 1999, Blue Streak
Europe acquired Injection Correction UK LTD, a subsidiary of Webcon, and in September 2001, acquired
TRW Inc.’s electronic control unit remanufacturing division. In April 1999, we acquired Lemark Auto
Accessories, a supplier of wire sets. In April 2002, the wire business was further expanded by acquiring
Carol Cable Limited, a manufacturer and distributor of wire.

With respect to the temperature control portion of our business, following the opening of the distribution
center in France, in 1997 a joint venture was entered into with Valeo, SA to remanufacture air conditioner
compressors for the European market. In addition, in January 2000 we acquired Four Seasons UK Ltd.
(formerly Vehicle Air Conditioning Parts Ltd.), a distributor of components for the repair of air
conditioning systems. In July 2000, the Temperature Control business was further expanded by
purchasing Four Seasons Italy SRL (formerly Automotive Heater Exchange SRL) in Italy. In 2001 we
entered into a joint venture with Pedro Sanz in Madrid, Spain to distribute our products in the Iberian
Peninsula.




Our European Segment accounted for approximately 5%, 6% and 6% of our consolidated net sales in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Aftermarket margins are under pressure, while volumes are in a
general decline in the ignition and carburetor product lines. We have responded to the adverse market
conditions by reducing manufacturing costs through consolidating certain facilities and outsourcing
products.

Unlike Engine Management sales, European Temperature Control product sales are increasing. Through
acquisitions and more importantly a growing market, net sales have increased from $6.1 million in 2000
to $15.1 million in 2004. To date, the focus has been on product coverage and high customer service
levels.

Financial Information About Qur Foreign and Demestic Operations and Export Sales

We sell our line of products primarily in the United States, with additional sales in Canada, Europe and
Latin America. Our sales are substantially denominated in U.S. dollars.

The table below shows our consolidated net sales by geographic area for the three years ended December
31, 2004.

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(In thousands)
$714,955 $ 584,853 $512,055
40,651 40,141 36,028
45,115 38,187 32,188
23,562 15,602 18,166
$ 824,283 $ 678,783 $ 598,437

The table below shows our long-lived assets by geographical area for the three years ended December 31,
2004.

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
United States ... reereneaetrare e st s aebes s bt nrn s $ 174,056 $ 192,574 $ 130,402
6,214 8,905 7,599
4,144 4,488 4,432
785 998 1,273
$ 185,199 $ 206,965 $ 143,706

Sales and Distribution

Over the last ten years, there has been a trend toward consolidation in the distribution chain among
warehouse distributors, retailers and auto parts jobbers. In the traditional distribution channel, where we
sell our products to warehouse distributors, such distributors supply auto parts jobbers, who in turn sell to
professional technicians and to consumers who perform automotive repairs themselves. In recent years,
warehouse distributors have been consolidating with other distributors, and an increasing number of
distributors own their jobbers. In the retail distribution channel, customers buy directly from us and sell
directly to technicians and “do it yourselfers.” Retailers are also consolidating with other retailers and
expanding into the jobber market.

As automotive parts grow more complex, consumers are less likely to service their own vehicles and may
become more reliant on dealers and technicians. In addition to new car sales, automotive dealerships sell
OE brand parts and service vehicles. The products available through the dealers are purchased through the
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original equipment service (OES) network. Traditionally, the parts manufacturers of OEMs have supplied
a majority of OES network. However, certain parts manufacturers have become independent and are no
longer affiliated with OEMs, and because of this, there may be additional opportunities for independent
automotive aftermarket manufacturers like us to supply the OES network.

We believe that our sales force is the premier direct sales force for our product lines, due to our high
concentration of highly-qualified, well-trained sales people dedicated to geographic territories, which
allows us to provide a level of customer service we believe is unmatched. From the outset, we thoroughly
train our sales people both in the function and application of our product lines, as well as in proven sales
techniques. Customers, therefore, depend on these sales people as a reliable source for technical
information. We give newly hired sales people extensive instruction at our training facility in Irving,
Texas and have a policy of continuing education that allows our sales force to stay current on
troubleshooting and repair techniques, as well as the latest automotive parts and systems technology.

We generate demand for our products by directing a significant portion of our sales effort to our
customers’ customers (i.e., jobbers and professional technicians). We also conduct instructional clinics,
which teach technicians how to diagnose and repair complex systems related to our products. To help our
sales people to be teachers and trainers, we focus our recruitment efforts on candidates who already have
strong technical backgrounds as well as sales experience. We also create demand for our products through
the Standard Plus Club. Our Standard Plus Club, a professional service dealer network, offers technical
and business development support and has a technical service telephone hotline which provides
immediate diagnostic and installation support. This club is available to technicians and provides training,
special discount programs and on-line diagnostic assistance.

In connection with our sales activities, we offer several types of discounts and allowances. We believe
these discounts and allowances are a common practice throughout the automotive aftermarket industry,
and we intend to continue to offer such discounts and allowances in response to competitive pressures.
For example, we offer cash discounts for paying invoices in accordance with the discounted terms of the
invoice.

Customers

Our customer base is comprised largely of warehouse distributors, other manufacturers and export
customers. In addition to serving our traditional customer base, we have expanded into the retail market
by selling to large retail chains such as Advance Auto Parts, AutoZone, CSK Auto, O’Reilly Automotive
and Pep Boys. Our retail channel of distribution has grown significantly from approximately $41 million
in consolidated net sales to retailers in 1993 to approximately $242 million in 2004.

In 1997, we commenced distributing our products through the OES supplier channel, and sold
approximately $3 million in consolidated net sales to OES suppliers which increased to approximately
$63 million in 2004.

Our five largest individual customers accounted for 50% of our 2004 consolidated net sales. Two
individual customers accounted for 17% and 14%, respectively, of our 2004 consolidated net sales.

Competition
We are a leading independent manufacturer of replacement parts for the product lines in Engine
Management and Temperature Control. We compete primarily on the basis of product quality, product

availability, customer service, product coverage, order turn-around time and order fill rate and price. We
believe we differentiate ourselves from our competitors primarily through:
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a value-added, knowledgeable sales force;

extensive product coverage;

sophisticated parts cataloguing systems; and

inventory levels sufficient to meet the rapid delivery requirements of customers.

In the engine management business, we are one of the leading independent manufacturers in the United
States. Our competitors include AC Delco, Delphi Corporation, Denso Corporation, Federal-Mogul
Corporation, Robert Bosch Corporation, Visteon Corporation and Wells Manufacturing Corporation, as
well as OE dealers.

Our temperature control business is one of the leading independent producers and distributors of a full
line of temperature control products in North America and other geographic areas. AC Delco, Delphi
Corporation, Denso Corporation, Jordan Automotive Aftermarket, Inc., Modine Manufacturing Company,
Siemens VDO Automotive, Transpro, Inc., and Visteon Corporation are some of our key competitors in
this market.

The automotive aftermarket is highly competitive, and we face substantial competition in all markets that
we serve. Our success in the marketplace continues to depend on our ability to offer competitive prices,
improved products and expanded offerings in competition with many other suppliers to the aftermarket.
Some major manufacturers of replacement parts are divisions of companies that have greater financial,
marketing and other resources than we do. In addition, we face competition from automobile
manufacturers who supply virtually every replacement part sold by us, although these manufacturers
generally supply parts only for cars they produce through OE dealerships.

Seasonality

Historically, our operating results have fluctuated by quarter, with the greatest sales occurring in the
second and third quarters of the year, with revenues generally being recognized at the time of shipment. It
is in these quarters that demand for our products is typically the highest, specifically in the Temperature
Control Segment of our business. In addition to this seasonality, the demand for our Temperature Control
products during the second and third quarters of the year may vary significantly with the summer weather.
For example, a cool summer may lessen the demand for our Temperature Control products, while a hot
summer may increase such demand. During the past two years, cool summers have in fact decreased
demand for our Temperature Control products. As a result of this seasonality and variability in demand of
our Temperature Control products, our working capital requirements peak near the end of the second
quarter, as the inventory build-up of air conditioning products is converted to sales and payments on the
receivables associated with such sales have yet to be received. During this period, our working capital
requirements are typically funded by borrowings from our revolving credit facility.

The seasonality of our business offers significant operational challenges in our manufacturing and
distribution functions. To limit these challenges and to provide a rapid turnaround time of customer
orders, we traditionally offer a pre-season selling program, known as our “Spring promotion,” in which
customers are offered a choice of a price discount or longer payment terms.

Working Capital Management

Automotive aftermarket companies have been under increasing pressure to provide broad SKU (stock
keeping unit) coverage in response to parts and brand proliferation. Since 1996, we have made significant
changes to our inventory management system to reduce inventory requirements. We launched a new
forecasting system in our Engine Management Segment that permitted a significant reduction in safety
stocks. Our Engine Management Segment also introduced a new distribution system in the second half of
1999, which permits pack-to-order systems to be implemented. Such systems permit us to retain slow
moving items in a bulk storage state until an order for a specific brand part is received. This system
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reduces the volume of a given part in inventory and reduces the labor requirements to package and
repackage inventory.

We face inventory management issues as a result of warranty and overstock returns. Many of our
products carry a warranty ranging from a 90-day limited warranty to a lifetime limited warranty, which
generally covers defects in materials or workmanship and failure to meet industry published
specifications. In addition to warranty returns, we also permit our customers to return products to us
within customer-specific limits in the event that they have overstocked their inventories. In particular, the
seasonality of our Temperature Control Segment requires that we increase our inventory during the winter
season in preparation of the summer selling season and customers purchasing such inventory have the
right to make returns.

In order to better control warranty and overstock return levels, beginning in 2000 we tightened the rules
for authorized warranty returns, placed further restrictions on the amounts customers can return and
instituted a program so that our management can better estimate potential future product returns. In
addition, with respect to our air conditioning compressors, which account for our most significant
customer product warranty returns, we established procedures whereby a warranty will be voided if a
customer does not follow a twelve step warranty return process.

Our profitability and working capital requirements have become more seasonal with the increased sales
mix of temperature control products. Our working capital requirements peak near the end of the second
quarter, as the inventory build-up of air conditioning products is converted to sales and payments on the
receivables associated with such sales have yet to be received. These increased working capital
requirements are funded by borrowings from our revolving credit facility.

Suppliers

The principal raw materials purchased by us consist of brass, electronic components, fabricated copper
(primarily in the form of magnet and insulated cable), steel magnets, laminations, tubes and shafts,
stamped steel parts, cooper wire, ignition wire, stainless steel coils and rods, aluminum coils, fittings,
tubes and rods, cast aluminum parts, lead, steel roller bearings, rubber molding compound, thermo-set and
thermo plastic molding powders. Additionally, we use components and cores (used parts) in our
remanufacturing processes for computerized electronics and air conditioning compressors.

We purchase many materials in the U.S. and foreign open markets and have a limited number of supply
agreements on key components. A number of prime suppliers make these materials available. In the case
of cores, we obtain them either from exchanges with customers who return cores when purchasing
remanufactured parts, or through direct purchases from a network of core brokers. In addition, we acquire
certain materials by purchasing products that are resold into the market, particularly by OEM sources and
other domestic and foreign suppliers.

We believe there is an adequate supply of primary raw materials and cores. In order to ensure a
consistent, high quality, low cost supply of key components for each product line, we continue to develop
our own sources through internal manufacturing capacity. Recently, prices of steel, aluminum and cooper
and other commodities have risen. These increases did not have a material impact on us, as we are not
dependent on any single commodity, however, there can be no assurance over the long term that increases
in commodity prices will not materially effect our business or results of operations.

Production and Engineering

We engineer, tool and manufacture many of the components used in the assembly of our products. We
also perform our own plastic and rubber molding operations, stamping and machining operations,
automated electronics assembly and a wide variety of other processes. In the case of remanufactured
components, we conduct our own teardown, diagnostics and rebuilding for computer modules and air
conditioning compressors. We have found this level of vertical integration to provide advantages in terms
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of cost, quality and availability. We intend to continue selective efforts toward further vertical integration
to ensure a consistent quality and supply of low cost components. We believe that the DEM acquisition
has further expanded our ability to become a “basic” supplier of certain components.

We use the “just-in-time” cellular manufacturing concept as a major program to lower costs and improve
efficiency. The main thrust of “just-in-time” cellular manufacturing is reducing work-in-process and
finished goods inventory, and its implementation reduces the inefficient operations that burden many
manufacturing processes. In 2000, we launched a program for the installation of a fully integrated
enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. The implementation was completed in 2003 in our
Temperature Control Segment. In addition, as part of our overall Sarbanes-Oxley compliance efforts, we
are evaluating our Engine Management information system to determine ways to strengthen the controls
of such system.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we employed approximately 3,000 people in the United States, and 1,100
people in Mexico, Canada, Puerto Rico, Europe and Hong Kong. Of these, approximately 2,800 are
production employees. We operate primarily in non-union facilities and have binding labor agreements
with the workers at our two unionized facilities. We have approximately 170 production employees in
Edwardsville, Kansas who are covered by a contract with The International Union, United Automobile,
Aerospace and Agricultural Implement Workers of America (“UAW”) that expires April 1, 2006. As of
December 31, 2004, approximately 160 of our production employees in Long Island City, New York are
under a UAW contract that expires October 1, 2007. We also have a union relationship in Mexico with an
agreement negotiated each year. The current union agreement in Mexico, which covers approximately
270 employees, expires on January 29, 2006. We believe that our facilities are in favorable labor markets
with ready access to adequate numbers of skilled and unskilled workers, and we believe our relations with
our union and non-union employees are good.

Insurance

We maintain basic liability coverage up to $2 million for automobile liability, general and product
liability and $50 million for umbrella liability coverage. We also maintain two $10 million environmental
policies to cover our existing U.S. facilities. One of our facilities is currently undergoing minor
environmental remediation. The environmental remediation costs at such facility are covered by an
insurance policy of $3 million, which is subject to a $1.5 million deductible; we have purchased new
environmental insurance coverage in the amount of $2 million relating to such facility. Historically, we
have not experienced casualty losses in any year in excess of our coverage. We have no reason to expect

this experience to change, but there can be no assurances that liability losses in the future will not exceed
our coverage.

Available Information

We are a New York corporation founded in 1919. Our principal executive offices are located at 37-18
Northern Boulevard, Long Island City, New York 11101, and our main telephone number at that location
is (718) 392-0200. Our Internet address is www.smpcorp.com. We provide a link to reports that we have
filed with the SEC. However, for those persons that make a request in writing or by e-mail
(financial@smpcorp.com), we will provide free of charge our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These
reports and other information are also available, free of charge, at www.sec.gov. Alternatively, you may
read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth
Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

We maintain our executive offices and a manufacturing plant in Long Island City, New York. The table
below describes our principal physical properties.

Location

Orlando
Mishawaka
Edwardsville
Independence
Wilson

Reno

Long Island City
Long Island City
Greenville
Disputanta
Fajardo

Hong Kong
Reynosa

Corona
Lewisville
Fort Worth
Grapevine
Grapevine
Grapevine
St. Thomas

Nottingham
Nottingham
Wellingborough
Strasbourg
Massa

State or
Country

FL
IN

KS
KS

NC
NV
NY
NY
SC
VA

Puerto Rico
HK
Mexico

CA
TX
TX
TX
TX
TX
Canada

England
England
England
France
Italy

Principal Business Activity

Engine Management

Manufacturing (Ignition)
Manufacturing

Manufacturing and Distribution (Wire)
Manufacturing

Manufacturing (Ignition)

Distribution (Ignition)

Administration and Manufacturing (Ignition)
Storage (land only)

Manufacturing (Ignition)

Distribution (Ignition)

Manufacturing (Ignition)
Manufacturing (Ignition)
Manufacturing (Wire)

Temperature Control

Manufacturing and Distribution
Administration and Distribution
Manufacturing and Distribution
Manufacturing

Storage

Storage

Manufacturing

Europe

Administration and Distribution (Ignition and Wire)

Manufacturing (Ignition)
Manufacturing (Wire)
Administration and Distribution
Administration and Distribution
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Approx.
Square
Feet

50,640
153,070
355,000
273,390

31,500

67,000
294,000

16,230
181,525
411,000
113,900

21,350

62,500

78,200
415,000
204,000
180,000

51,630

5,000

40,000

29,000
46,780
18,500
16,150
13,100

Owned or
Expiration
Date
of Lease

2007
Owned
Owned
Owned
2008
Owned
Owned
2013
Owned
Owned
2007
2005
2009

2008
2009
Owned
Owned
2009
2009
Owned

Owned
Owned
2017
2005
2008




Owned or
Approx. Expiration

State or Square Date
Location Country Principal Business Activity Feet of Lease
Other
Mississauga Canada  Administration and Distribution (Ignition, Wire, 128,400 2016
Temperature Control)
Irving TX Training Center 13,400 2009

Sublet/Available for Disposition

Branford CT Vacant 187,000 Owned
Cumming GA Vacated/partially subleased 76,650 2007
Franklin Park IL Vacant 136,600 2006
Nashville N Vacant 677,000 2021
Nottingham England  Manufacturing (Ignition) 10,000 2012
Sunbury at

Thames England  Vacated/partially subleased 28,100 2007

The real property we own in Indiana, Kansas, Nevada, South Carolina, Virginia and Texas is encumbered
by a mortgage or deed of trust, as applicable, in favor of General Electric Capital Corporation, as agent
for our secured revolving credit facility. In addition, the real property we own in Long Island City, New
York is encumbered by a mortgage in favor of Wells Fargo Bank N.A.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 1986, we acquired a brake business, which we subsequently sold in March 1998 and which is
accounted for as a discontinued operation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. When
we originally acquired this brake business, we assumed future liabilities relating to any alleged exposure
to asbestos-containing products manufactured by the seller of the acquired brake business. In accordance
with the related purchase agreement, we agreed to assume the liabilities for all new claims filed on or
after September 1, 2001. Our ultimate exposure will depend upon the number of claims filed against us on
or after September 1, 2001 and the amounts paid for indemnity and defense thereof. At December 31,
2001, approximately 100 cases were outstanding for which we were responsible for any related liabilities.
At December 31, 2002, the number of cases outstanding for which we were responsible for related
liabilities increased to approximately 2,500, which include approximately 1,600 cases filed in December
2002 in Mississippi. We believe that these Mississippi cases filed against us in December 2002 were due
in large part to potential plaintiffs accelerating the filing of their claims prior to the effective date of
Mississippi’s tort reform statute in January 2003, which statute eliminated the ability of plaintiffs to file
consolidated cases. At December 31, 2004, approximately 3,700 cases were outstanding for which we
were responsible for any related liabilities. We expect the outstanding cases to increase gradually due to
recent legislation in certain states mandating minimum medical criteria before a case can be heard. Since
inception in September 2001, the amounts paid for settled claims are approximately $2.3 million. We do
not have insurance coverage for the defense and indemnity costs associated with these claims. See note 19
of the notes to consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

On November 30, 2004, the Company was served with a summons and complaint in the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of New York by The Coalition For A Level Playing Field, which is an
organization comprised of a large number of auto parts retailers. The complaint alleges antitrust violations
by the Company and a number of other auto parts manufacturers and retailers and seeks injunctive relief
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and unspecified monetary damages. The Company’s answer to the complaint has been delayed pending
service on other defendants. Although we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this case or estimate the
range of any potential loss that may be incurred in the litigation, we believe that the lawsuit is without
merit, strenuously deny all of the plaintiff’s allegations of wrongdoing and believe we have meritorious
defenses to the plaintiff’s claims. We intend to defend vigorously this lawsuit.

We are involved in various other litigation and product liability matters arising in the ordinary course of
business. Although the final outcome of any asbestos-related matters or any other litigation or product
liability matter cannot be determined, based on our understanding and evaluation of the relevant facts and
circumstances, it is our opinion that the final outcome of these matters will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.
PARTII

ITEMS: MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock trades publicly on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol “SMP.”
The following table shows the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported by the
New York Stock Exchange and the dividends declared per share for the periods indicated:
High Low Dividend
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004

First Quarter $15.85 $12.00 $0.09
Second Quarter 16.80 12.99 0.09
Third Quarter 15.56 13.37 0.09
Fourth Quarter 16.48 14.50 0.09

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2003

First Quarter $15.70 $11.10 $0.09
Second Quarter 13.62 10.50 0.09
Third Quarter ' 11.72 9.25 0.09
Fourth Quarter 12.36 9.10 0.09

The last reported sale price of our common stock on the NYSE on February 28, 2005 was $11.56 per
share. As of February 28, 2005, there were 455 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends are declared and paid on the common stock at the discretion of our board of directors and
depend on our profitability, financial condition, capital rieeds, future prospects, and other factors deemed
relevant by our board. Our current policy is to pay dividends on a quarterly basis. Our credit agreement
permits dividends and distributions by us provided specific conditions are met.

No repurchases of the Company’s equity securities were made during 2004,
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the last five years ended December
31, 2004. This selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and our financial statements
and the notes thereto inciuded elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:

Net 5ales (1).virierrnnrerrenernenesne $824,283 $678,783 $598,437  $591,652 $601,392
Gross profit (1).. 194,993 174,772 157,544 139,055 162,701
Goodwill impairment charge (3) ....... 6,429 — 3,334 — —
Operating income (10ss)..........ccoevenne (1,737) 15,815 25,068 15,123 30,711
Earnings (loss) from continuing
OPErations (2) .....c.cueeeereerermrerneanees (8,907) 224 6,091 (2,485) 9,729
Loss from discontinued operation,
[T 7 R (3,909) (1,742) (18,297) —_ —
Cumulative effect of accounting
change, net of tax (3)(4) .....ccconuucee. (1,564) — (18,350) — _
Net 1085 (5).veevrirncenrencviireiennrnineineres (14,380) (1,518) (30,556) (2,485) 9,729
Per Share Data:
Eamings (loss) from continuing
operations:
BaSiC..rceeerreercriercsan et $ (0.46) $ 001 $ 051 $ (0.21) $ 082
Diluted......oovrvenirreririreereinnnins (0.46) 0.01 0.51 (0.21) 0.81
Net earnings (loss) per common
share:
BaSiC....cocvvnrirrenirerreiesreernenines (0.74) (0.10) 2.57) ©.21n 0.82
Diluted......ocoimerernnceerninrenennnens 0.74) (0.10) (2.549) 0.21) 0.81
Cash dividends per common
share.......coovviviniiiiiiie e 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.36
Other Data:
Depreciation and amortization ........... $ 19,013 $ 17,092 $ 16,128 $ 18,909 $ 18,922
Capital expenditures 9,774 8,926 7,598 13,740 16,652
DAVIAENdS ..oucuovrcienacnreressnsnceansesesssesses 6,955 5,615 4,290 4,236 4,324
Balance Sheet Data (at period end):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,934 $ 19,647 $ 9,690 $ 7,496 $ 7,699
Working capital ...........co.c... 194,760 191,333 140,683 121,566 188,091
Total @SSets......cvvrrrcererrerrerrrrrreernireses 656,569 694,525 490,758 509,429 549,396
Total debt....ccccoerririrerereiercvieneinienns 224,186 217,810 176,917 205,925 202,591
Long-term debt (excluding current
POTON) .. curiecerrmrerenareseneisrraesanses 114,236 114,757 93,191 93,276 150,018
Stockholders’ equity .......ccoeeverennnene. 207,312 226,041 153,881 185,687 194,305

(1) We adopted the guidelines of the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) entitled “Accounting for
Certain Sales Incentives” and “Vendor Income Statement Characterization of Consideration Paid to
a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products,” on January 1, 2003. These guidelines address when sales
incentives and discounts should be recognized and the accounting for certain costs incurred by a
vendor on behalf of a customer, as well as where the related revenues and expenses should be
classified in the financial statements. Net sales and gross profit amounts for the periods prior to
2002 included in this Report have been reclassified to conform to our 2002 presentation. As a result,
certain costs of approximately $30.4 million and $25.4 million have been reclassified for December
31,2001 and 2000, respectively.
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(2) We adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections,” on January 1, 2003. The new guidance
eliminates the automatic classification of gain or loss on extinguishment of debt as an extraordinary
item of income and requires that such gain or loss be evaluated for extraordinary classification
under the criteria of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) No. 30, Reporting Results of Operations.
As a result, the extraordinary loss on the early extinguishment of debt of approximately $2.8 million
and $0.5 million has been reclassified to interest expense for December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

(3) We adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” on January 1, 2002. The new
guidance replaced the amortization of goodwill with periodic assessments of the fair value of
goodwill. Our initial impairment test, performed as of January 1, 2002, indicated that the carrying
amounts of some of our reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values, which were
determined based on the discounted estimated future cash flows of the reporting units, the
Company’s weighted average cost of capital and market multiples. As a result, we recorded an
impairment loss on goodwill as a cumulative effect of accounting change of $18.3 million during
the first quarter of 2002. The impairment loss related to our European Operation and Temperature
Control Segment for which we recorded a charge of $10.9 million and $7.4 million, respectively.
We completed our annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2002 and after
consideration to 2002 losses and budgeted 2003 losses, we recorded an impairment loss of $3.3
million associated with the Engine Management reporting unit of our European Segment. Cur
annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2004, indicated that the carrying amounts of
two of our reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values. As a result, we recorded an
impairment loss on goodwill of $6.4 million during the fourth quarter of 2004. The impairment loss
related to our European Operation and Temperature Control Segment for which we recorded a
charge of $1.6 million and $4.8 million, respectively. We will continue to test for impairment of
our goodwill at least annually in the future.

(4) New customer acquisition costs refer to arrangements pursuant to which we incur change over costs
to induce a new or existing customer to switch from a competitor’s brand. In addition, change over
costs include the costs related to removing the new customer’s inventory and replacing it with
Standard Motor Products inventory commonly referred to as a stocklift. New customer acquisition
costs were initially recorded as a prepaid asset and the related expense was recognized ratably aver
a 12-month period beginning in the month following the stocklift as an offset to sales. In the fourth
quarter of 2004, we determined that it was a preferable accounting method to reflect the customer
acquisition costs as a reduction to revenue when incurred. We recorded a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting for new customer acquisition costs totaling $1.6 million, net of tax effects,
and recorded the accounting change as if it had taken effect on October 1, 2004.

(5) We recorded an after tax charge of $3.9 million, $1.7 million and $18.3 million as a loss from
discontinued operation to account for legal expenses and potential costs associated with our
asbestos-related liability for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto. This discussion summarizes the significant factors affecting our results of operations and
the financial condition of our business during each of the fiscal years in the three year period ended
December 31, 2004. '

Overview

We are a leading independent manufacturer and distributor of replacement parts for motor vehicles in the
automotive aftermarket industry. We are organized into two major operating segments, each of which
focuses on a specific segment of replacement parts. Our Engine Management Segment manufactures
ignition and emission parts, on-board computers, ignition wires, battery cables and fuel system parts. Our
Temperature Control Segment manufactures and remanufactures air conditioning compressors, and other
air conditioning and heating parts. We sell our products primarily in the United States, Canada and Latin
America. We also sell our products in Europe through our European Segment.

As part of our efforts to grow our business, as well as to achieve increased production and distribution
efficiencies, on June 30, 2003 we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and assumed
substantially all of the operating liabilities of Dana Corporation’s Engine Management Group
(subsequently referred to as “DEM”). Prior to the sale, DEM was a leading manufacturer of aftermarket
parts in the automotive industry focused exclusively on engine management. Qur plan is to restructure
and to integrate the DEM business into our existing Engine Management Business.

Under the terms of the acquisition, we paid Dana Corporation $93.2 million in cash, issued an unsecured
promissory note of $15.1 million, and issued 1,378,760 shares of our common stock valued at $15.1
million. Including transaction costs, our total purchase price was approximately $130.5 million.

In connection with the acquisition, we have reviewed our operations and implemented integration plans to
restructure the operations of DEM. As part of the integration and restructuring plans, we closed seven of
the nine acquired DEM facilities, and we estimated total restructuring costs of $33.7 million. Such
amounts were recognized as liabilities assumed in the acquisition and included in the allocation of the
cost to acquire DEM.

Based on our most recent estimates of the total restructuring costs, approximately $15.7 million relates to
work force reductions and employee termination benefits. This amount primarily represents severance
costs relating to the involuntary termination of DEM employees individually employed throughout DEM
facilities across a broad range of functions, including managerial, professional, clerical, manufacturing
and factory positions. Termination benefits of $2.1 million and $9.4 million have been paid in 2003 and
2004, respectively. The restructuring costs also include approximately $18.0 million associated with
exiting certain activities, primarily related to lease and contract termination costs. Exit costs of $2.9
million were paid in 2004 leaving the exit reserve balance at $15.1 million as of December 31, 2004.

The DEM acquisition in 2003 was strategic and continues to be our primary focus in 2005, The critical goals
we established for a successful integration were to maintain the DEM customer base; reduce excess capacity
by closing seven of the acquired facilities in a 12 to 18 month timeframe; and complete the transition for $30-
35 million of cash outlays in restructuring and integration costs during this same period. The integration has
proceeded on schedule, and all DEM operations including manufacturing, distribution, MIS, finance, sales
and marketing have been transferred to SMP locations. As planned, we have exited seven of the acquired
nine facilities, and this has been accomplished within our original time frame of twelve to eighteen months.
The integration moves have been completed within budget, and thus far we have maintained all the DEM
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customers. Based on our current expectations, we continue to believe that as we achieve the planned material
product cost savings, and our new employees achieve normal efficiency, we will accomplish our target of $50
- $55 million annual savings from the DEM acquisition. It is our goal to begin approaching this number
during the second half of 2005.

On February 3, 2004, we acquired inventory from the Canadian distribution operation of DEM for
approximately $1.0 million. We have relocated such inventory into our distribution facility in
Mississauga, Canada.

For additional information about our business, strategy and competitive environment, refer to Item 1,
“Business.”

Seasonality. Historically, our operating results have fluctuated by quarter, with the greatest sales
occurring in the second and third quarters of the year and revenues generally being recognized at the time
of shipment. It is in these quarters that demand for our products is typically the highest, specifically in the
Temperature Control segment of our business. In addition to this seasonality, the demand for our
Temperature Control products during the second and third quarters of the year may vary significantly
with the summer weather. For example, a cool summer may lessen the demand for our Temperature
Control products, while a hot summer may increase such demand. As a result of this seasonality and
variability in demand of our Temperature Control products, our working capital requirements peak near
the end of the second quarter, as the inventory build-up of air conditioning products is converted to sales
and payments on the receivables associated with such sales have yet to be received. During this period,
our working capital requirements are typically funded by borrowing from our revolving credit facility.

The seasonality of our business offers significant operational challenges in our manufacturing and
distribution functions. To limit these challenges and to provide a rapid turnaround time of customer
orders, we traditionally offer a pre-season selling program, known as our “Spring Promotion,” in which
customers are offered a choice of a price discount or longer payment terms,

Inventory Management. We face inventory management issues as a result of warranty and overstock
returns. Many of our products carry a warranty ranging from a 90-day limited warranty to a lifetime
limited warranty, which generally covers defects in materials or workmanship and failure to meet industry
published specifications. In addition to warranty returns, we also permit our customers to return products
to us within customer-specific limits in the event that they have overstocked their inventories. In
particular, the seasonality of our Temperature Control segment requires that we increase our inventory
during the winter season in preparation of the summer selling season and customers purchasing such
inventory have the right to make returns.

In order to better control warranty and overstock return levels, beginning in 2000 we tightened the rules
for authorized warranty returns, placed further restrictions on the amounts customers can return and
instituted a program so that our management can better estimate potential future product returns. In
addition, with respect to our air conditioning compressors, our most significant customer product
warranty returns, we established procedures whereby a warranty will be voided if a customer does not
follow a twelve-step warranty return process.

Comparison of Fiscal Years 2004 and 2003

Sales. On a consolidated basis, net sales for 2004 were $824.3 million, an increase of $145.5 million, or
21.4%, compared to $678.8 million in 2003. The increase in net sales was primarily in our Engine
Management segment and our Canadian distribution business. Engine Management net sales increased to
$562.8 million (an increase of $148.4 million) or 35.8% in 2004 as compared to 2003. The acquisition of
DEM added approximately $122 million of incremental net sales in the first half of 2004 with no sales in
the comparable period in 2003. Excluding the impact of the first half DEM net sales, the balance of
Engine Management sales increased $26.4 million or 6.4%. The $8.2 million increase in sales in our
Canadian business was related to the acquisition of the DEM distribution business in February 2004.
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Temperature Control net sales decreased to $210 million (a decrease of $9.5 million) or 4.3% in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The decrease in Temperature Control net sales was primarily due to the very cool and
wet weather conditions existing in the spring and early summer.

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2004, we determined that it was a preferable accounting method to
reflect new customer acquisition costs as a reduction to revenue when incurred instead of as we initially
recorded it as a prepaid asset and the related expense which was recognized ratably over a 12-month period
as an offset to sales. Accordingly, we recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting for new
customer acquisition costs totaling $2.6 million (or $1.6 million, net of tax effects) and recorded the
accounting change as if it had taken effect on October 1, 2004.

Gross margins. Gross margins, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, decreased to 23.7% in 2004
compared to 25.7% in 2003. The margin decrease was primarily related to a number of significant one-
time related items from the final DEM integration and lower net sales in our Temperature Control segment.
The Engine Management gross margins were negatively impacted in the fourth quarter of 2004 primarily
related to (1) the underabsorption of factory overhead expenses of approximately $3 million due to closing
manufacturing facilities for physical inventories and to reduce the “bridge inventories” which had been built
to cover the plant closings, (2) unfavorable physical inventory adjustments of approximately $3 million
primarily related to the scrapping of inventories in facilities being closed, and (3) an inventory writedown of
approximately $5 million related to the inventory turnover for products sourced on the outside at substantial
premiums to our manufactured costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)
increased by $25.6 million to $178.9 million in 2004, compared to $153.3 million in 2003. This increase
was primarily due to the $145.5 million sales increase, as discussed above, and an increase of $2.4 million
in discount fees associated with the sale of customer receivables (see note 4 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements). As a percentage of net sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses decreased to 21.7% in 2004 from 22.6% in 2003. We anticipate further savings in 2005 as we
have completed the DEM integration and merged operations.

Goodwill. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 142”). In accordance with SFAS
No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized, but instead, is subject to an annual review for potential
impairment. Our annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2004, indicated that the carrying
amounts of two of our reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values, which were determined
based on the discounted estimated future cash flows of the reporting units, the companies weighted
average cost of capital and market multiples. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss on goodwill of
$6.4 million during the fourth quarter of 2004. The impairment loss related to our Temperature Control
and European Operation Segment for which we recorded a charge of $4.8 million and $1.6 million,
respectively. We will continue to test for impairment of our goodwill at least annually in the future.

Integration Expenses. Integration expenses in 2004 were $11.4 million, primarily related to the DEM
integration, compared to $5.7 million in 2003, which primarily related to expenses associated with the
DEM integration and with the divestiture of a product line within our European segment.

Operating income (loss). Operating income decreased by $17.5 million to an operating loss of $1.7 million
in 2004, compared to operating income of $15.8 million in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to fourth
quarter charges impacting the Engine Management gross margin, lower Temperature Control sales,
goodwill impairment charge and DEM integration expenses.

Other income, net. Other income, net, increased to $2.9 million in 2004 compared to an expense of $0.5

million in 2003. The increase was primarily due to increased earnings from joint ventures and foreign
exchange transactions.
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Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by $0.2 million to $13.7 million in 2004 compared to $13.9
million in 2003.

Income tax provision. The effective tax rate for continuing operations decreased from 84.3% in 2003 to
29.2% in 2004. The 2003 effective rate was impacted by various tax jurisdictions we do business in and
no tax benefits recorded on losses in Europe.

Loss from discontinued operation. Loss from discontinued operation, net of taxes, in 2004 reflects $3.9
million associated with asbestos-related provisions and legal expenses as compared to $1.7 million of
legal expenses in 2003. As discussed more fully in note 19 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, we are responsible for certain future liabilities relating to alleged exposure to asbestos
containing products.

Cumulative effect of accounting change. As discussed above, we reflect new customer acquisition costs
as a reduction to revenue when incurred. We recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting for
new customer acquisition costs totaling $2.6 million (or $1.6 million, net of tax effects) and recorded the
amount as if the change in accounting principle had taken effect on October 1, 2004. See note 3 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements for a further discussion.

Comparison of Fiscal Years 2003 and 2002

Sales. On a consolidated basis, net sales for 2003 were $678.8 million, an increase of $80.4 million, or
13.4%, compared to $598.4 million in 2002. Excluding DEM net sales of $115.5 million, Engine
Management net sales were down $4.2 million during 2003 compared to 2002. The volume decline was in
line with our forecasts, and would have been mitigated if we had implemented normal price level
increases in 2003, which have been implemented in 2004. The Temperature Control net sales decrease of
$35.5 million was primarily due to the loss of business with AutoZone and the very cool and wet weather
conditions existing in the spring and early summer.

Gross margins. Gross margins, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, decreased to 25.7% in 2003,
from 26.3% in 2002. A combination of lower margins from DEM and the loss in business in Temperature
Control noted above, negatively effected gross margins during the period. As DEM is integrated, we do
expect gross margins to improve as a result of operating efficiencies achieved in overhead absorption and
material costs reductions.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)
increased $26.4 million to $153.3 million in 2003, compared to $126.9 million in 2002. Excluding DEM
SG&A expenses of $28.9 million, SG&A expenses decreased $2.5 million in 2003 versus 2002. During
2003 we incurred approximately $5.6 million of integration and restructuring expenses of which $2.8
million related to DEM and the remaining balance relating to our Temperature Control and European
Segments compared to $2.2 million of restructuring expenses in 2002. Reducing DEM SG&A expenses is
a major focus during the DEM integration and SG&A is expected to significantly decrease.

Goodwill, Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 142”). In accordance with SFAS
No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized, but instead, is subject to an annual review for potential
impairment. We completed our annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2003 and determined
that our goodwill was not impaired.

During the first quarter of 2002, we performed our initial impairment test of goodwill reviewing the fair
values of each of our reporting units using the discounted cash flows method, based on our weighted
average cost of capital and market multiples. The decline in economic and market conditions, higher
integration costs than anticipated and the general softness in the automotive aftermarket caused a decrease
in the fair values of certain of our reporting units. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss on
goodwill as a cumulative effect of accounting change of $18.3 million, net of tax, or $1:55 per diluted
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share during the first quarter of 2002. The impairment loss relates to goodwill of $10.9 million in our
European Segment and $7.4 million in our Temperature Control Segment. In addition, during the fourth
quarter of 2002 we wrote-off approximately $3.3 million for the impairment of goodwill associated with
the Engine Management reporting unit of our European Segment.

Operating income. Operating income decreased by $9.3 million to $15.8 million in 2003, compared to
$25.1 million in 2002. This decrease was primarily due to the overall decrease in consolidated net sales,
excluding DEM net sales, as discussed above and the acquisition of DEM.

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net, decreased $3.7 million primarily due to
unfavorable foreign exchange losses and lower interest and dividend income.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by $0.3 million in 2003, compared to 2002, due to lower
interest rates.

Income tax provision. The effective tax rate for continuing operations was 84% in 2003 and 57% in
2002. The increase was primarily due to lower earnings in our domestic operations as compared to 2002
and operating losses in our European segment for which no income tax benefit has been recorded. Our
foreign income tax relates primarily to our profitable Canadian and Hong Kong operations.

Loss from discontinued operation. Loss from discontinued operation in 2003 reflects $1.7 million
associated with asbestos-related legal expenses. In 2002, the $18.3 million charge included a reserve for
future indemnification and 2002 legal expenses. As discussed more fully in note 17 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements, we are responsible for certain future liabilities relating to alleged
exposure to asbestos containing products. Based on the information contained in the September 2002
actuarial study, which estimated an undiscounted liability for settlement payments ranging from $27.3
million to $58 million, and all other available information considered by us, we recorded an after tax
charge of $16.9 million as a loss from discontinued operation during the third quarter of 2002 to reflect
such liability, excluding legal costs. We concluded that no amount within the range of settlement
payments was more likely than any other and, therefore, recorded the low end of the range as the liability
associated with future settlement payments through 2052 in our consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Impact of Inflation

Although inflation is a concern, management believes it will be able to continue to minimize any adverse
effect of inflation on earnings through cost reduction programs, including the sale of manufactured
products, and, where competitive situations permit, selling price increases. Recently, prices of steel and
other commodities have risen. These increases did not have a material impact on our consolidated results,
as we are not dependent on any single commodity, however, there can be no assurance over the long-term
that increases in commodity prices will materially effect our business or results of operations.

Future Results of Operations

We continue to face competitive pressures. In order to sell at competitive prices while maintaining profit
margins, we are continuing to focus on overhead and cost reductions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Operating Activities. During the year ended December 31, 2004, cash provided by operations amounted to
$3.5 million, compared to $31.5 million in 2003 and $57 million in 2002.

The reduction in 2004 was primarily attributable to lower earnings from continuing operations and
restructuring charges incurred offset by a decrease in accounts receivable. The decrease in accounts
receivable is primarily the result of certain of our significant customers implementing negotiable draft
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programs, whereby cash collections of accounts receivable balances can be made early at our option, but at a
discount to us. The cost of such discounts is recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses. See
note 4 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

The reduction in 2003 was primarily attributable to lower earnings from continuing operations, a decrease
in accounts payable and a lower decrease in inventory in 2003, as compared to 2002.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, inventory increased by approximately $5 million. Inventory
turnover was 2.5x in 2004, 2.2 x in 2003, and 2.3 x in 2002. Inventory turnover should improve as DEM
is integrated, and inventory “build-ups™ needed to ensure order fulfillment are reduced as DEM is
effectively integrated.

Investing Activities. Cash used in investing activities was $10.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared to $101.9 million in 2003 and $26.9 million in 2002. The decrease is primarily due to the
payment for the acquisition of DEM on June 30, 2003. During 2004, payments for acquisitions include
DEM in Canada and the final cash payment for the DEM acquisition.

The increase during 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily due to the acquisition of DEM as discussed
more fully in note 2 of the notes to consolidated financial statements. Assets acquired consist primarily of
property, plant and equipment, receivables and inventory. All acquisitions were financed with funds
provided from our secondary equity offering, revolving credit facility and seller financing.

In January 2002, we acquired the assets of a temperature control business from Hartle Industries for $4.8
million. The assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, and inventory. In April 2002, we
acquired Carol Cable Limited, a manufacturer and distributor of wire sets based in the United Kingdom,
for approximately $1.7 million. The assets from this acquisition consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, and inventory. In addition, during 2002, the Company paid approximately an additional $2.8
million for the remaining equity interest in SMP Holdings Limited. In May 2002, we purchased the
aftermarket fuel injector business of Sagem Inc., a subsidiary of Johnson Controls, for $10.5 million.
Sagem Inc. is a basic manufacturer of fuel injectors and was our primary supplier prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired from this acquisition consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, and inventory.
The purchase was partially financed by the seller ($5.4 million to be paid over a two year period), with
the remaining funds being provided under our revolving credit facility.

Capital expenditures for the three most recent fiscal years ended December 31 totaled $9.8 million in
2004, $8.9 million in 2003, and $7.6 million in 2002.

Financing Activities. Cash provided by financing activities was $1.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and $75 million in 2003 compared to cash used in financing activities of $29.5
million in 2002. The decrease is primarily due to the financing related to the acquisition of DEM on June
30, 2003.

Effective April 27, 2001, we entered into an agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation, as
agent, and a syndicate of lenders for a secured revolving credit facility. The term of the credit agreement
was for a period of five years and provided for a line of credit up to $225 million.

Effective June 30, 2003, in connection with our acquisition of DEM, we amended and restated our credit
agreement to provide for an additional $80 million commitment. This additional commitment increases
the total amount available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility to $305 million from $225
million, and extends the term of the credit agreement from 2006 to 2008. Availability under our revolving
credit facility is based on a formula of eligible accounts receivable, eligible inventory and eligible fixed
assets, which includes the purchased assets of DEM. We expect such availability under the revolving
credit facility to be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating and integration costs. Our credit agreement
also permits dividends and distributions by us provided specific conditions are met.
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Direct borrowings under our revolving credit facility bear interest at the prime rate plus the applicable
margin (as defined in the credit agreement) or the LIBOR rate plus the applicable margin (as defined in
the credit agreement), at our option. Borrowings are collateralized by substantially all of our assets,
including accounts receivable, inventory and fixed assets, and those of our domestic and Canadian
subsidiaries. The terms of our revolving credit facility provide for, among other provisions, new financial
covenants requiring us, on a consolidated basis, (1) to maintain specified levels of earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) as defined in the amendments to the credit
agreement, at the end of each fiscal quarter through December 31, 2004, (2) commencing September 30,
2004, to maintain specified levels of fixed charge coverage at the end of each fiscal quarter (rolling
twelve months) through 2007, and (3) to limit capital expenditure levels for each fiscal year through 2007.
We subsequently received a waiver of compliance with the EBITDA covenant for the fiscal quarters
ending September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2004.

At December 31, 2004, we were not in compliance with the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio
contained in our revolving credit facility. However, as of March 31, 2005, we received a waiver of
compliance of such covenant for the quarter ended on December 31, 2004. The waiver was part of an
amendment to our revolving credit facility, which provided, among other things, for the following: (1)
borrowings of the Company are no longer collateralized by the assets, including accounts receivable,
inventory and fixed assets, of our Canadian subsidiary; (2) the specified levels of fixed charge coverage
has been modified for 2005 and thereafter; (3) our Canadian subsidiary was released from its obligations
under a guaranty and security agreement; and (4) the Company’s pledge of stock of its Canadian
subsidiary to the lenders was reduced from a 100% to a 65% pledge of stock.

In addition, in order to facilitate the aggregate financing of the DEM acquisition, we completed a public
equity offering of 5,750,000 shares of our common stock for net proceeds of approximately $55.7 million
and also issued to Dana Corporation 1,378,760 shares of our common stock valued at approximately
$15.1 million.

In connection with our acquisition of DEM, on June 30, 2003 we also issued to Dana Corporation an
unsecured subordinated promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $15.1
million. The promissory note bears an interest rate of 9% per annum for the first year, with such interest
rate increasing by one-half of a percentage point (0.5%) on each anniversary of the date of issuance.
Accrued and unpaid interest is due quarterly under the promissory note. The maturity date of the
promissory note is December 31, 2008. The promissory note may be prepaid in whole or in part at any
time without penalty.

On June 27, 2003, we borrowed $10 million under a mortgage loan agreement. The loan is payable in
equal monthly installments. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.50% maturing in July 2018. The
mortgage loan is secured by the related building and property.

Our profitability and working capital requirements are seasonal due to the sales mix of temperature
control products. Our working capital requirements usually peak near the end of the second quarter, as the
inventory build-up of air conditioning products is converted to sales and payments on the receivables
associated with such sales begin to be received. Our working capital is further being impacted by
restructuring and integration costs, as well as inventory build-ups necessary to ensure order fulfillment
during the DEM integration. These increased working capital requirements are funded by borrowings
from our lines of credit. In 2004, we also received the benefit from accelerating accounts receivable
collections from customer draft programs. While this program is new in 2004, we cannot ensure such
programs will remain going forward. We anticipate that our present sources of funds will continue to be
adequate to meet our near term needs.

In October 2003, we entered into a new interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $25

million that is to mature in October 2006. Under this agreement, we receive a floating rate based on the
LIBOR interest rate, and pay a fixed rate of 2.45% on the notional amount of $25 million.
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On July 26, 1999, we issued convertible debentures, payable semi-annually, in the aggregate principal
amount of $90 million. The debentures carry an interest rate of 6.75%, payable semi-annually. The
debentures are convertible into 2,796,120 shares of our common stock, and mature on July 15, 2009. The
proceeds from the sale of the debentures were used to prepay an 8.6% senior note, reduce short term bank
borrowings and repurchase a portion of our common stock.

During 1998 through 2000, the Board of Directors authorized multiple repurchase programs under which
we could repurchase shares of our common stock. During such years, $26.7 million (in the aggregate) of
common stock was repurchased to meet present and future requirements of our stock option programs and
to fund our Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP). As of December 31, 2004, we have Board authorization
to repurchase additional shares at a maximum cost of $1.7 million. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we did
not repurchase any shares of our common stock.

The following is a summary of our contractual commitments, inclusive of our acquisition of DEM, as of
December 31, 2004:

(in thousands) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total
Principal payments of long :

term debt.......cocrirevnnenen $ 534 $ 555 $ 581 $ 553 $ 560 $111,987 $114,770
Operating leases 7,079 6,421 5,358 4,621 3,720 19,784 46,983
Interest rate swap .

AGIEEMENLS ...vcvereerrerrrrraens — (362) — — — —_ (362)
Postemployee retirement

funding......ccconirevnnrereennanes 1,201 1,278 1,408 1,556 1,720 12,475 19,638
Severance payments related :

to integration..........cceevnens 3,999 251 — — — — 4,250

Total commitments........ $12,813 $8,143 $7,347 $6,730 $6,000 $144,246 $185,279

Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our
results of operations. The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business
operations is discussed throughout “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” where such policies affect our reported and expected financial results. For a
detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see note 1 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements. You should be aware that preparation of our consolidated annual and
quarterly financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our
consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
periods. We can give no assurance that actual results wiil not differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition. We derive our revenue primarily from sales of replacement parts for motor
vehicles from both our Engine Management and Temperature Control Segments. We recognize revenues
when products are shipped and title has been transferred to a customer, the sales price is fixed and
determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. We estimate and record provisions for cash discounts,
quantity rebates, sales returns and warranties in the period the sale is recorded, based upon our prior
experience and current trends. As described below, significant management judgments and estimates must
be made and used in estimating sales returns and allowances relating to revenue recognized in any
accounting period.

Inventory Valuation. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is generally determined
on the first-in, first-out basis. Where appropriate, standard cost systems are utilized for purposes of
determining cost; the standards are adjusted as necessary to ensure they approximate actual costs.
‘Estimates of lower of cost or market value of inventory are determined at the reporting unit level and are
based upon the inventory at that location taken as a whole. These estimates are based upon current
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economic conditions, historical sales quantities and patterns and, in some cases, the specific risk of loss
on specifically identified inventories.

We also evaluate inventories on a regular basis to identify inventory on hand that may be obsolete or in
excess of current and future projected market demand. For inventory deemed to be obsolete, we provide a
reserve on the full value of the inventory. Inventory that is in excess of current and projected use is
reduced by an allowance to a level that approximates our estimate of future demand.

Sales Returns and Other Allowances and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The preparation of
financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Specifically, our
management must make estimates of potential future product returns related to current period product
revenue. Management analyzes historical returns, current economic trends, and changes in customer
demand when evaluating the adequacy of the sales returns and other allowances. Significant management
judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with establishing the sales returns and
other allowances in any accounting period. At December 31, 2004, the allowance for sales returns was
$23.1 million. Similarly, our management must make estimates of the uncollectability of our accounts
receivables. Management specifically analyzes accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad debts,
customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in our
customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. At
December 31, 2004, the allowance for doubtful accounts and for discounts was $9.4 million.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting for New Customer Acquisition Costs. New customer
acquisition costs refer to arrangements pursuant to which we incur change over costs to induce a new
customer to switch from a competitor’s brand. In addition, change over costs include the costs related to
removing the new customer’s inventory and replacing it with Standard Motor Products inventory
commonly referred to as a stocklift. New customer acquisition costs were initially recorded as a prepaid
asset and the related expense was recognized ratably over a 12-month period beginning in the month
following the stocklift as an offset to sales. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we determined that it was a
preferable accounting method to reflect the customer acquisition costs as a reduction to revenue when
incurred. We recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting for new customer acquisition costs
totaling $2.6 million (or $1.6 million, net of tax effects) and recorded the amount as if the change in
accounting principle had taken effect on October 1, 2004,

Accounting for Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements,
we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This
process involves estimating our actual current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences
resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheet. We must then
assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the
extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we
establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we must include an expense within
the tax provision in the statement of operations,

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred
tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. At
December 31, 2004, we had a valuation allowance of $23.1 million, due to uncertainties related to our
ability to utilize some of our deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance is based on our estimates of
taxable income by jurisdiction in which we operate and the period over which our deferred tax assets will
be recoverable.

In the event that actual results differ from these estimates, or we adjust these estimates in future periods,
we may need to establish an additional valuation allowance which could materially impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

27




Valuation of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill. We assess the impairment of identifiable
intangibles and long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important, which could trigger an impairment review,
include the following: significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future
operating results; significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for
our overall business; and significant negative industry or economic trends. With respect to goodwill, if
necessary, we test for potential impairment in the fourth quarter of each year as part of our annual
budgeting process. We review the fair values of each of our reporting units using the discounted cash
flows method and market multiples.

Retirement and Postretirement Medical Benefits. Each year we calculated the costs of providing retiree
benefits under'the provisions of SFAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, and SFAS 106,
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions. The key assumptions used in
making these calculations are disclosed in notes 11 and 12 of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements. The most significant of these assumptions are the discount rate used to value the future
obligation, expected return on plan assets and health care cost trend rates. We select discount rates
commensurate with current market interest rates on high-quality, fixed rate debt securities. The expected
return on assets is based on our current review of the long-term returns on assets held by the plans, which
is influenced by historical averages. The medical cost trend rate is based on our actual medical claims and
future projections of medical cost trends.

Asbestos Reserve. We are responsible for certain future liabilities relating to alleged exposure to asbestos-
containing products. A September 2002 actuarial study estimated a liability for settlement payments
ranging from $27.3 million to $58 million. We concluded that no amount within the range of settlement
payments was more likely than any other and, therefore, recorded the low end of the range as the liability
associated with future settlement payments through 2052 in our consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

In accordance with our accounting policy, we update the actuarial study during the third quarter of each
year. The most recent update to the actuarial study was performed as of August 31, 2004 using
methodologies consistent with the September 2002 study. The updated study has estimated an
undiscounted liability for settlement payments, excluding legal costs, ranging from $28 to $63 million for
the period through 2049. The change from the prior year study was a $1.5 million increase for the low end
of the range and a $7.9 million decrease for the high end of the range. As a result, in September 2004, an
incremental $3 million provision was added to the asbestos accrual increasing the reserve to
approximately $28.2 million. Legal costs are estimated to range from $22 to $27 million during the same
period. We plan on performing a similar annual actuarial analysis during the third quarter of each year for
the foreseeable future. Based on this analysis and all other available information, we will reassess the
recorded liability and, if deemed necessary, record an adjustment to the reserve, which will be reflected as
a loss or gain from discontinued operation. Legal expenses associated with asbestos-related matters are
expensed as incurred and recorded as a loss from discontinued operation in the statement of operations.

Other Loss Reserves. We have numerous other loss exposures, such as environmental claims, product
liability and litigation. Establishing loss reserves for these matters requires the use of estimates and
judgment of risk exposure and ultimate liability. We estimate losses using consistent and appropriate
methods; however, changes to our assumptions could materially affect our recorded liabilities for loss.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the

“Medicare Modernization Act”) was signed into law. The Medicare Modernization Act expanded
Medicare to include, for the first time, coverage for prescription drugs. At present, proposed regulations
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necessary to implement the Medicare Modernization Act have been issued, including those that would
specify the manner in which actuarial equivalency must be determined, the evidence required to
demonstrate actuarial equivalency, and the documentation requirements necessary to be entitled to the
subsidy. Based on such proposed regulations, we believe that our prescription drug benefit for our
employee retirees (other than certain union retirees) are expected to meet the actuarial equivalence test in
2006 and, therefore, we would be eligible to receive a subsidy from Medicare. However, our net periodic
postretirement benefit cost does not reflect any amount associated with the subsidy because such subsidy
is immaterial in amount.

Inventory Costs

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs-An Amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4 (“SFAS 151”). SFAS 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing,
to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and
wasted material (spoilage). Among other provisions, the new rule requires that items such as idle facility
expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs be recognized as current-period charges
regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal” as stated in ARB No. 43. Additionally,
SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on
the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2005 and is required to be adopted beginning on January 1, 2006. The Company is currently
evaluating the effect that the adoption of SFAS 151 will have on our consolidated results of operations
and financial condition but do not expect SFAS 151 to have a material impact.

Pronouncements Relating to American Jobs Creation Act of 2004

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1 (“FSP 109-1"), “Application of
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities
Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” It is effective immediately. FSP 109-1 states that
the tax deduction of qualified domestic production activities, which is provided by the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”), will be treated as a special deduction as described in SFAS No.
109. Consequently, the impact of the deduction, which is effective January 1, 2005, will be reported in the
period in which the deduction is claimed on the Company’s income tax returns. The Company does not
expect FSP 109-1 to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2"), “Accounting and
Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004”. FSP 109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance related to the Jobs Act provision
for the limited time 85% dividends received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign earnings.
Although adoption is effective immediately, FSP 109-2 states that a company is allowed time beyond the
financial reporting period to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation
of foreign earnings. The Company is evaluating the impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act
and will complete its review by December 31, 2005. It is not expected that these provisions will have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statements. Accordingly, as provided for in FSP 109-2, the
Company has not adjusted its tax expense or net deferred tax assets to reflect the repatriation provisions
of the Jobs Act.

Share-Based Payment

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounts Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R is a revision to SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.”
SFAS 123R establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its
equity instruments for goods or services, primarily focusing on the accounting for transactions in which
an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. Entities will be required to
measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
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the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the
period during which an employee is required to provide service, the requisite service period (usually the
vesting period), in exchange for the award. The grant-date fair value of employee share options and
similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models. If an equity award is modified after the
grant date, incremental compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair
value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before the
modification. SFAS 123R is effective for interim and annual financial statements beginning after June 15,
2005 and will apply to all outstanding and unvested share-based payments at the time of adoption. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact SFAS 123R will have on its consolidated financial statements
and will adopt such standard as required.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk, primarily related to foreign currency exchange and interest rates. These
exposures are actively monitored by management. Qur exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is due to
certain costs, revenues and borrowings being denominated in currencies other than one of our subsidiary’s
functional currency. Similarly, we are exposed to market risk as the result of changes in interest rates
which may affect the cost of our financing. It is our policy and practice to use derivative financial
instruments only to the extent necessary to manage exposures. We do not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Exchange Rate Risk

We have exchange rate exposure, primarily, with respect to the Canadian dollar and the British pound. As
of December 31, 2004, our financial instruments which are subject to this exposure are immaterial,
therefore the potential immediate loss to us that would result from a hypothetical 10% change in foreign
currency exchange rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our earnings or cash flows.
This sensitivity analysis assumes an unfavorable 10% fluctuation in both of the exchange rates affecting
both of the foreign currencies in which the indebtedness and the financial instruments described above are
denominated and does not take into account the offsetting effect of such a change on our foreign-currency
denominated revenues.

Interest Rate Risk

We manage our exposure to interest rate risk through the proportion of fixed rate debt and variable rate
debt in our debt portfolio. To manage a portion of our exposure to interest rate changes, we enter into
interest rate swap agreements.

In October 2003, we entered into a new interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $25
million that is to mature in October 2006. Under this agreement, we receive a floating rate based on the
LIBOR interest rate, and pay a fixed rate of 2.45% on the notional amount of $25 million. If, at any time,
the swap is determined to be ineffective, in whole or in part, due to changes in the interest rate swap
agreement, the fair value of the portion of the interest rate swap determined to be ineffective will be
recognized as gain or loss in the statement of operations for the applicable period.

In July 2001, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to interest rate
changes. The swaps effectively convert a portion of our variable rate debt under the revolving credit
facility to a fixed rate, without exchanging the notional amounts. At December 31, 2002, we had two
outstanding interest rate swap agreements (in an aggregate notional amount of $75 million), one of which
matured in January 2003 and the other matured in January 2004. Under these agreements, we received a
floating rate based on the LIBOR interest rate, and paid a fixed rate of 4.92% on a notional amount of $45
million (matured in January 2004) and 4.37% on a notional amount of $30 million (matured in January
2003).
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At December 31, 2004, we had approximately $224.2 million in loans and financing outstanding, of
which approximately $114.8 million bear interest at fixed interest rates and approximately $109.4 million
bear interest at variable rates of interest. We invest our excess cash in highly liquid short-term
investments. Our percentage of variable rate debt to total debt was 49% at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Depending upon the level of borrowings under our revolving credit facility and our excess cash, the effect
of a hypothetical, instantaneous and unfavorable change of 100 basis points in the interest rate may have
approximately $1.2 million negative impact on our earnings or cash flows.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTOL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Stockholders
Standard Motor Products, Inc.:

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). The
Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s
management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Because of these
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation, and may not prevent or detect misstatements,
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency (as defined in PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2), or
combination of significant deficiencies, that results in there being more than a remote likelihood that a
material misstatement in financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by
employees in the normal course of their work.

Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has provided us with an
unqualified report on our consolidated financial statements for 2004. However, in connection with the
audit procedures for the audit of our 2004 financial statements and internal controls assessment, we were
not able to complete fully our testing of a sufficient amount of key controls in our processes to satisfy
Grant Thornton on their effectiveness. One of the reasons for our inability to complete such testing was
that we did not have adequate resources to perform such testing by December 31, 2004. Accordingly, in
consultation with Grant Thornton, we have concluded that we are unable to complete the management
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 as required under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and Grant Thornton has issued a “disclaimer” opinion, included
herein, indicating that they do not express an opinion as to management’s assessment and as to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004.

Notwithstanding the above, management is strengthening the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting beyond what has existed in prior years. In the course of performing its assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
management identified the following material weaknesses in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting:

)] There were insufficient personnel resources within the accounting and financial reporting
function due to accounting staff (including senior level employees) turnover occurring in
the fourth quarter of 2004.

(2) There were deficiencies identified in the following areas of the Company’s information
technology function which, when considered in the aggregate, constitute a material

weakness over financial reporting:

. The Company’s IT system is decentralized with disparate IT platforms, business
solutions and software applications being utilized.
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3)

. System maintenance policies and procedures (including an enhanced disaster
recovery plan) require development and adoption.

. Security of systems used for the entry and maintenance of accounting records
requires additional documentation and scrutiny to ensure that appropriate access
to such systems and the data contained therein is restricted.

. A policy and procedure to address an overall security framework, including
password usage, intrusion detection, system security monitoring and back-up
recovery must be written and implemented.

There were deficiencies in the analysis and reconciliation of general ledger accounts
which were indicative of a material weakness in controls over closing procedures,
including the (a) month end cut off processes, and (b) the accounting and reporting of
restructuring charges.

Since the discovery of the material weaknesses in internal controls described above, we have taken
various actions to remediate our internal control over financial reporting including, but not limited to, the

following:

(1

)

3)

We have engaged a search firm to assist us in the hiring of additional senior level
accounting staff. We expect to fill such positions by the second or third quarters of 2005.
In addition, in the first quarter of 2005, we hired a Financial Compliance Manager to
assist us with our Sarbanes-Oxley compliance.

We have re-allocated resources to our accounting and finance department to strengthen
our accounting function. In particular, in the first quarter of 2005 we have transferred one
employee from our European operations to become our Engine Management Group
Controller, and in the second quarter of 2005 we will be transferring one employee from
our Canadian operations to serve in a senior level accounting position in our Engine
Management division. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2004 we have hired an outside
consultant to assist us with our accounting function.

In 2004, we retained an independent third party consulting firm to assist us in the
preparation, documentation and testing of our compliance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We intend to continue to utilize this consulting firm with
our Sarbanes-Oxley compliance efforts in 2005.

(4) As part of our efforts to improve our IT function, we are in the process of:

o Establishing an enterprise wide information technology strategy to synthesize the
disparate IT platforms and to develop policies to unify the business solutions and
software applications being employed;

o Establishing a plan for uniform upgrades of workstations and software, including
virus protection and software fixes;

o Establishing a formal policy and procedure to address the overall security
framework, including password usage, intrusion detection and system security
monitoring;

o Improving our security measures to safeguard our data, including enhancing our
disaster recovery plan;

» Improving our policies and procedures for system maintenance and handling back-
up and recovery tapes; and

e Utilizing a consulting firm to assist us with preparing an IT policy and procedures
manual to document all of our updated IT procedures/standards on a company-wide
basis.
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The continued implementation of the initiatives described above is among our highest priorities. We have
discussed our corrective actions and future plans with our audit committee and Grant Thornton and, as of
the date of this Report, we believe the actions outlined above should correct the above-listed material
weaknesses in our internal controls. However, we cannot assure you that neither we nor our independent
auditors will in the future identify further material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting that we have not discovered to date.

In making this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework. Because of the material weakness described above, management believes that, as of
December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over the financial reporting was not effective based
on those criteria.

Notwithstanding Grant Thornton’s “disclaimer” opinion, Grant Thornton has indicated its agreement with
the above listed weakness in our internal controls and has advised our audit committee of our board of
directors that the internal control weaknesses do not affect Grant Thornton’s unqualified report on our
consolidated financial statements for 2004, which is included in this Report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM—INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Standard Motor Products, Inc;.:

We were engaged to audit management's assessment, included in Management's Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting (included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K), that Standard Motor Products,
Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in
management's assessment. A material weakness exists as of December 31, 2004, with regard to
insufficient personnel in the accounting and financial reporting function due to accounting staff (including
senior level employees) turnover occurring in the fourth quarter of 2004, which affects management's
ability to effectively review and analyze elements of the financial statement closing process and prepare
consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In addition, a material weakness exists
as of December 31, 2004, in controls over closing procedures due to a number of year-end audit
adjustments. There were deficiencies in the analysis and reconciliation of general ledger accounts which
were indicative of a material weakness in controls over closing procedures, including the (a) month end
cut off processes, and (b) the accounting and reporting of restructuring charges. Finally, a material
weakness exists as of December 31, 2004 in regards to information technology. In particular, information
technology is run in a decentralized mode. The Company needs to establish enterprise wide information
technology strategy to synthesize the disparate IT platforms, develop and enforce policies and unify the
business solutions and software applications being employed. The security of systems used for the entry
and maintenance of accounting records requires additional documentation and scrutiny to ensure that
access to such systems and the data contained therein is restricted to only those employees whose job
duties require such access. A policy and procedure to address an overall security framework, including
password usage, intrusion detection and system security monitoring must be written and implemented.
The IT system has not been maintained in a manner that provides assurance that all and only authorized
changes have been properly designed, tested, and used. These material weaknesses were considered in
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2004 financial
statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 31, 2005 on those financial statements.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Since management was unable to complete its assessment on internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, and we were unable to apply other procedures to satisfy ourselves as to the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, the scope of our work was not
sufficient to enable us to express, and we do not express, an opinion either on management's assessment
or on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

We have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2004, and the related

consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and our
report dated March 31, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York New York
March 31, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM—
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Standard Motor Products, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Standard Motor Products, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
income, cash flows and changes in stockholders' equity for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's Management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The financial statements of Standard Motor
Products, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and as of December 31, 2003 were
audited by another independent registered public accounting firm. The other firm expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements in their report dated March 26, 2004.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Standard Motor Products, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company
changed its method of accounting for customer acquisition costs as of October 1, 2004,

We were also engaged to audit, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Since management was unable to complete its assessment on internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, and therefore we were unable to apply other procedures to satisfy ourselves as to
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, the scope of our work was
not sufficient to enable us to express, and we did not express, an opinion either on management’s
assessment or on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting in our report
dated March 31, 2005.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
March 31, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM—
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Standard Motor Products, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Standard Motor Products, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,
2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. OQur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Standard Motor Products, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As described in Note 6, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards No. 142,
Goodwill And Other Intangible Assets as of January 1, 2002.

/s KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 26, 2004
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Cumulative effect of accounting change .........c.coooverevcneierecninns
Net loss per common share — BasiC.........ccoiinninnmenmeonemnsemens

Net earnings (loss) per common share — Diluted:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations............ccoeovemininieriinnns
Discontinued Operation............coovvevievrierienensiissniesmenerereseseenss
Cumulative effect of accounting change ..........ccceoveievnervisecnnnn
Net loss per common share — Diluted........c...coovenvnnniiininniccinincrinn
Average number of COMMON ShAIES .........occeviiinrnrienmesresnn
Average number of common shares and dilutive common shares

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

{Dollars in thousands,

except per share data)
$824,283 $678,783 $598,437
629,290 504,011 440,893
194,993 174,772 157,544
178,852 153,303 126,901
11,449 5,654 2,241
6,429 — 3,334
(1,737) 15,815 25,068
2,861 477) 3,187
13,710 13,907 14,244
(12,586) 1,431 14,011
(3,679 1,207 7,920
(8,907) 224 6,091
(3,909) (1,742) (18,297)
(12,816) (1,518) (12,206)
(1,564) — (18,350)
$(14,380) $(1,518) $(30,556)
$(0.46) $0.01 $0.51
(0.20) 0.11) (1.54)
(0.08) — (1.54)
$(0.74) $(0.10) $(2.57)
$(0.46) $0.01 $0.51
(0.20) (0.11) (1.52)
_ (0.08) — (1.53)
$(0.74) $(0.10) $(2.54)
19,331,358 15,744,930 11,914,968
19,331,358 15,793,008 12,008,496

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2004 2003
(Dollars in thousands,
except share data)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash eqQUIVBIENLS.........cceoveererierreernrioinieresresistresreresrsanessrssnsesstorssnssereensans $14,934 $19,647
Accounts receivable, less allowances for discounts and doubtful accounts of
$9,354 and $5,009 in 2004 and 2003, respectively........ccccrrivericeieniernceserenionns 151,352 174,223
INVENIOTIES . ..oeveereirieriieirecrerisectnarte e erasaneere s e nrsere s e s sestsas s st ses s snssraanssnsreserannestsnsas 258,641 253,754
Deferred INCOME tAXES.......ccverrierierieeiecistesseeiestisssreseessesseostosessrensssnssosesstossessrsssnnen 14,809 13,148
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENt SSEtS ........cccovivrireirivienmseriesecensansesesesnsenssessons 7,480 7,399
TOtAl CUITENE @SSLS..uvvrerriirreereeeriererreetesisressersesiseseessesressesssessesssossesnnssssions 447,216 468,171
Property, plant and equIPmMENt, NEL........c.ovvveeiermreriniier e s sere s sssterareressesasens 97,425 107,042
Goodwill and other intangibles, NEt..........c.coecierererenineicinneserseneerenne s ssseresssens 69,911 77,350
OFNET ASSEIS....ceeerrerrercrrererineriesesreerenestensresrrese s resas s sese e tssesssssresnassessssssbossotesasnotesasstanee 42017 41,962
TOLAL ASSELS ...cverririerierrriiieeieeseersesisteressessiseeressersssssrsssesersonsssssnmnsastsssnessrsssers $656,569 $694,525
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
NOLES PAYADIE .......ocoveerecririerericr et s e e aen $109,416 $99,699
Current portion of 1ong-term debt ...........covucnininnenincecnnieneieoesemesmoens 534 3,354
AcCOUNES PAYADIE .......cuciiriciiiiieiecirreee et se e st ene s 46,487 58,029
Sundry payables and accrued EXPENSES .......co.cveeremrirerisnrierrereresiesersssssnsrsessessssserees 31,241 42,431
ACCTUET CUSTOIMET TEIUIMIS ..eviureevrieieerererierentaisressesssresessivessaosasesssissssntosssessntoessesssniees 23,127 24,115
ReStructuring aCCrual........uccicevverinieneneniinnniesiennessensenssssesssnsmsesasresencesssssesassonses 6,999 16,000
ACCTUEA TEDALES ......c.evveveerirereerenitsiereereriesaeseresssssresresssbsabesersebessaesssrssetossentassanssanse 24,210 18,989
Payroll and commissions 10,442 14,221
Total current [Habilities ........ccouviieiriiriiirirese et ee e sesresresrsonie 252,456 276,838
LONG-Erm bt ......c.coerirrecieniinieninceescnns e nmiessrs st e serassaebsserstsbobiassesssssenssnotossanstorses 114,236 114,757
Postretirement medical benefits and other accrued liabilities........oocvevvveeviviiirenice e 44,111 36,848
RESITUCIUTNG ACCTUAL....c.cvriiieitiicrirrrrerirsirertcrreresssesrssnressesstenrsssesrrestesessaressssssarssrasssesense 12,394 15,615
Accrued asbestos HabIlities..........cevvvenienienienienies oo sreseeiesseeesessesissrasiasrae sesosne 26,060 24 426
Total Habilithes «.....c.cvereenrreriiririeeinisneecr st sesesrssseenseseeesans 449,257 468,484
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 19)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common Stock - par value $2.00 per share:
Authorized 30,000,000 shares, issued 20,486,036 shares ............ccoeceveerviereeranns 40,972 40,972
Capital in €Xcess Of par ValUe.......c.uuiverveeiiimneiiiieiececseense et ssanee st 57,424 58,086
Retained €aMMINES .......c.covvreerenirnrsirenrismeniearerarsssiererssevssnsessssnsesseersessssesensreesesascssons 120,218 141,553
Accumulated other comprehensive inCOme (1058) ......vuverrmcernsrssricinnerenscrenenonserenns 4,805 4,814
Treasury stock - at cost (1,067,308 and 1,284,428 shares in 2004
and 2003, respectively).......cococervervrervnennners (16,107 (19,384)
Total stockholders’ equity 207,312 226,041
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equUity .......ccovvverneririnerorneesresnecsennes $656,569 $694,525

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NELLOSS .ottt ssset et sis st siar s ssessssessssensensatsarassasen

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided

by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization.............ccovrveerinrrnnercsnserennesececenssesensressenes
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Equity income from joint ventures....................... .
Employee stock ownership plan allocation..........cccccccvvernreircinnnns
Tax benefit related to employee stock options
(Increase) decrease in deferred income taxes........
Cumulative effect of accounting change...............
Loss from discontinued operation............oveeevcesnrvnnicrreereisrsessnnns
Goodwill impairment Charge ..........ccooevemnireernnennversnrscirens

Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Decrease in accounts receivable, net
(Increase) decrease in INVENLOTIES ...c.ccvonirnirernniirercrirnmsessesserenenes
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets ....
(Increase) decrease in OthEr @SSELS ......c.cvrverevireeiverisirverssssreesiseens
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable...........c..cccovververeveienennnes
Increase(decrease) in sundry payables and accrued expenses......
Decrease in restructuring accrual.........oceeveerveverenerennuecccrnensnveens
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities...................

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditures, net of effects from acquisitions ..........
Maturity of investments..........occcoervererernnes
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired................
Net cash used in investing actiVities .........c.ocverveerrrvesicaniunsscscninesieseessessseenmnnes

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings (repayments) under line-of-credit agreements..........cccoooeevererrivinnnnns
Principal payments and retirement of long-term debt..............c.cooevrruennen.
Borrowings under new long-term debt ...........ccccovcnirnninicencnnnaes
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Increase in overdraft balances.........coveeereuiemenveveerinenerennesescenennns
DEb iSSURNCE COSIS ... rvecurrriciriiricesiesnr e ses st et sssessesere s ssessssssssssasinsnssresn
Proceeds from exercise of employee Stock OpHions...........c.cveecererersrmsrrenrssissessnssssses
Dividends paid............ceceverrrcrmrerrenenr e ns
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash...........cccouomvveveenceecrereeeennnns
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at beginning of year .
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at end 0f YEar .........cocovevvevereurivcnrsecnrnnnneensersenes
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
INEETESE .ocvvviiercee st bbbt seneneas
INCOME LAXES ...ttt s rsr bbbt e ssannens
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Common stock issued to seller for acquiSition.............couvevernierrerecrenennnneneennnn.
Issuance of long-term debt to seller for aCQUISItON .....cccvvvvrevenerriinrinenssssenens

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

$(14,380) $(1,518) $(30,556)
19,013 17,092 16,128
1,379 1,001 97)
(752) 27 (352)
1,643 938 1,230
— — 80
(6,425) (1,632) 2,550
1,564 — 18,350
3,909 1,742 18,297
6,429 — 3,334
22,237 8,583 1,302
(3,863) 3,511 7,996
(82) 446 7,485
3,662 1,802 (3,705)
(12,376) (9,471) 5,322
(5,969) 7,045 (3,215)
(12,222) (2,085) —
(301) 4,036 12,806
3,466 31,463 56,955
1,734 87 520
9,774) (8,926) (7,598)
— 7,200 —_
(2,906) (100,249) (19,855)
(10,946) (101,888) (26,933)
9,717 20,081 (31,246)
(3,341 (4,313) (3,181)
— 10,000 5,419
— 55,744 _
834 1,509 3,830
— (2,460) (602)
972 91 589
(6,955) (5,615) (4,290
1,227 75,037 (29,481)
1,540 5,345 1,653
4,713) 9,957 2,194
19,647 9,690 7,496
$14,934 $19,647 $9,690
$13,741 $13,641 $14,362
$ 2,582 $22815 $1,549
$ — $15,125 $ —
$ — $15,125 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS®’ EQUITY

Year Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Capital in Accumulated Other
Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury
Stock Par Value  Earnings Income (Loss) Stock Total
(In thousands)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,2001 ............ $26,649 $ 1,877 $ 183,532 $3,722) $(22,649) $185,687
Comprehensive Loss:
NE10SS..oiuiiriiiinnermesresesesesensieeneennes (30,556) (30,556)
Foreign currency translation adjustment ... 1,295 1,295
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap
agreements, net of tax of $205............... 617 617
Minimum pension liability adjustment...... amn a7
Total comprehensive 108S .....ooeeveerrerernnnens (29,415)
Cash dividends paid............cccceururinnee (4,290) (4,250)
Exercise of employee stock options (291) 880 589
Tax benefits applicable to the exercise of
employee StocK OPLONS ..v.cv.veevecrivcrnnrinnns 80 80
Employee Stock Ownership Plan 98 1,132 1,230
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002 ............ 26,649 1,764 148,686 ’ (2,581) (20,637) 153,881
Comprehensive Loss:

NEt10SS...cerieiinierrenresesrsriinecenneenenens (1,518) (1,518)
Foreign currency translation adjustment ... 6,162 6,162
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap

agreements, net of tax of $439............... 1,317 1,317
Minimum pension liability adjustment...... (84) (84)
Total comprehensive 0SS .......ocveerevererennes 5,877

Cash dividends paid.........cccceevvccecnernrvrncninnnnnn (5,615) (5,615)
Issuance of common stock related to 14,323 56,546 70,869
acquisition

Exercise of employee stock options (30) 121 91
Employee Stock Ownership Plan ...................... (194) 1,132 938
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 ............ 40,972 58,086 141,553 4,814 (19,384) 226,041
Comprehensive Loss:

NEEL0SS.0veviisiieiecnivereieeeneeneresesenessrsnresseres (14,380) (14,380)

Foreign currency translation adjustment..... 2,242 2,242

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap

agreements, net of tax of $127............... 383 383
Minimum pension liability adjustment....... (2,634) (2,634)
Total comprehensive 108s ......ocvvervvrrveenenes (14,389)

Cash dividends paid ................overveennes (6,955) (6,955)
Exercise of employee stock options (645) 1,617 972
Employee Stock Ownership Plan ...................... (17) 1,660 1,643
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 ............ $ 40,972  $57.424 $120,218 $4,805 $(16,107) $207,312

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

Standard Motor Products, Inc. (referred to hereinafter in these notes to consolidated financial
statements as “we,” “us” or “our”) is engaged in the manufacture and distribution of replacement parts for
motor vehicles in the automotive aftermarket industry. The consolidated financial statements include our
accounts and all subsidiaries in which we have more than a 50% equity ownership. Our investments in
unconsolidated affiliates are accounted for on the equity method. All significant intercompany items have
been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

In conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, we have made a number of
estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare these consolidated financial statements. Some of
the more significant estimates include allowances for doubtful accounts, realizability of inventory,
goodwill and other intangible assets, depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets, product liability,
pensions and other postretirement benefits, asbestos and litigation matters, deferred tax asset valuation
allowance and sales return allowances. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Where appropriate, certain amounts in 2003 and 2002 have been reclassified to conform with the
2004 presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months
or less to be cash equivalents.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Cash Discounts

The Company does not generally require collateral for its trade accounts receivable. Accounts
receivable have been reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future.
These allowances are established based on a combination of write-off history, aging analysis, and specific
account evaluations. When a receivable balance is known to be uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts. Cash discounts are provided based on an overall average experience
rate applied to qualifying accounts receivable balances. The Company previously presented the reserve for
accounts receivable balances over 90 days past due as a reduction to the gross receivable balance instead of
as part of the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined by means of the first-in, first-out method)
or market. Inventories are reduced by an allowance for excess and obsolete inventories, based on the
Company’s review of on-hand inventories.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company recognizes derivatives as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. For
derivatives that have been formally designated as a cash flow hedge (interest rate swap agreements), the
effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in “accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).” Amounts in “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” are
reclassified into earnings in the “interest expense” caption when interest expense on the underlying
borrowings are recognized.

Property, Plant and Equipment

These assets are recorded at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method of
depreciation over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated Life
Buildings and improvements ..........c.cconirnnnnicicinieeenns 10 to 33-1/2 years
Machinery and equipment ........cccceneiinnniiininincnnnnnnens 7 to 12 years
Tools, dies and auxiliary equipment..........cccceerceicrnenenes 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fiXtUres ..........ocovevmreeeveercrcrnnrnsicennnnens 3 to 12 years
Leasehold improvements ........cocecmeennerisiscsenisenns e Shorter of life of asset or lease term

Major renewals and improvements of property, plant and equipment are capitalized, and repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill, Other Intangible and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
in business combinations accounted for as purchases. We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) in January 2002. Goodwill and
certain other intangible assets having indefinite lives, which were previously amortized on a straight-line
basis over the periods benefited, are no longer being amortized to earnings, but instead are subject to
periodic testing for impairment. Intangible assets determined to have definite lives are amortized over
their remaining useful lives.

Goodwill of a reporting unit is tested for impairment on an annual basis or between annual tests if
an event occurs or circumstances change that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its
carrying amount. To the extent the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, we are required to perform a second step, as this is an indication that the reporting unit
goodwill may be.impaired. In this step, we compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill
with the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined
by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the assets (recognized and unrecognized) and
liabilities of the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”). The
residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill.

Intangible and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events such as
product discontinuance, plant closures, product dispositions or other changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In reviewing for impairment, we compare the carrying
value of such assets with finite lives to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected from the
use of the assets and their eventual disposition. When the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are
less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the difference between the
assets fair value and their carrying value.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill was assessed for recoverability by determining
whether the amortization of the goodwill balance over its remaining life could be recovered through
undiscounted future operating cash flows of the acquired operation. The amount of goodwill and other
intangible asset impairment, if any, was measured based on projected discounted future operating cash
flows using a discount rate reflecting our average cost of funds.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting for New Customer Acquisition Costs

New customer acquisition costs refer to arrangements pursuant to which we incur change over
costs to induce a new or existing customer to switch from a competitor’s brand. In addition, change over
costs include the costs related to removing the new customer’s inventory and replacing it with Standard
Motor Products inventory commonly referred to as a stocklift. New customer acquisition costs were
initially recorded as a prepaid asset and the related expense was recognized ratably over a 12-month
period beginning in the month following the stocklift as an offset to sales. In the fourth quarter of 2004,
we determined that it was a preferable accounting method to reflect the customer acquisition costs as a
reduction to revenue when incurred. We recorded a cumulative effect of a change in accounting for new
customer acquisition costs totaling $1.6 million, net of tax effects, and recorded the accounting change as
if it had taken effect on October 1, 2004. Accordingly, the effect of the change is recorded in the 2004
quarterly data presented in note 3.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates and revenues and
expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. The resulting translation adjustments
are recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and remains
there until the underlying foreign operation is liquidated or substantially disposed of. Where the U.S.
dollar is the functional currency, transaction gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of financial
statements are recorded in the statement of operations under the caption “other income (expense).”

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when products are shipped and title has been transferred to a customer,
the sales price is fixed and determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. We estimate and record
provisions for cash discounts, quantity rebates, sales returns and warranties in the period the sale is
recorded, based upon our prior experience and current trends.

Selling, General and Administration Expenses

Selling, general and administration expenses includes shipping costs and advertising, which is
expensed as incurred.

Deferred Financing Costs

We have incurred costs in obtaining financing. These costs of $9.7 million have been capitalized
in other assets and are being amortized over the life of the related financing arrangements through 2009.
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, total accumulated amortization was $5 million and $3.6 million,
respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Postretirement Benefits other than Pensions

The annual net postretirement benefit liability and related expense under our benefit plans are
determined on an actuarial basis. Benefits are determined primarily based upon employees’ length of
service.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method in accordance with the provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities, as measured
by the current enacted tax rates. The Company establishes valuation allowances against deferred tax
assets when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of those deferred assets will not be realized.
The valuation allowance is intended in part to provide for the uncertainty regarding the ultimate
utilization of the Company’s U.S. net operating loss carry forwards, U.S. capital loss carryovers, U.S.
foreign tax credit carryovers, and foreign net operating loss carry forwards. Deferred tax expense (benefit)
is the result of changes in the deferred tax asset and liability.

Reporting of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes (a) net income, (b) the cumulative effect of translating
balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries to U.S. dollars, (c) the effect of adjusting interest rate swaps to
market, and (d) the recognition of minimum pension liabilities. The last three are not included in the
income statement and are reflected as adjustments to shareholder’s equity.

Net Earnings Per Common Share

We present two calculations of earnings per common share. “Basic” earnings per common share
equals net income divided by weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. “Diluted”
earnings per common share equals net income divided by the sum of weighted average common shares
outstanding during the period plus potentially dilutive common shares. Potentially dilutive common
shares that are anti-dilutive are excluded from net earnings per common share. The foliowing is a
reconciliation of the shares used in calculating basic and dilutive net earnings per common share.

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
Weighted average common shares.................... 19,331 15,745 11,915
Effect of potentially dilutive common shares ... — 48 93
Weighted average common equivalent shares
outstanding assuming dilution.................... 19,331 15,793 12,008

The average shares listed below were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented.

2004 2003 2002

(In thousands)
Stock Options........cciververerinrenvieneereseseen 1,192 844 574
Convertible debentures ............ccooevvreereeesrnveern 2,796 2,796 2,796
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Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), we account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method
in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations. Stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
exercisable at prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the dates the options were
granted; therefore, no compensation cost has been recognized for the stock options granted.

If we accounted for stock-based compensation using the fair value method of SFAS 123, as
amended by Statement No. 148, the effect on net income (loss) and basic and diluted earnings (loss) per
share would have been as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(In thousands,
except per share amounts)
Net 1088, @S rePOItEd....cvvvevsvreersrererrernrenrniniersreessseserersssens $(14,380) $(1,518) $(30,556)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value method for all awards, net

of related tax effects ... : (452) (137) (235)
Pro fOrma NEL LOSS .....cocvcearinereencrinrnninnisinssssesssnssesssssesssssesenees $(14.832) $ (1.653) $(30.791)
Loss per share:

BasiC - @S FEPOMEd ...vvvcireiiereieensriesessecosesssssssnssnissnererssins $ (0.74) $ (0.10) $ (257

Basic - Pro forma.......ccuunirriinncisinsnsnsssssssssssssns (0.77) $ (0.11) $ (2.59)

Diluted - as reported........ovevnvenereinunssessessonisssesssssenss $ (0.79) $ (0.10) $ 254

Diluted - pro forma........ccoecoenirennniecnininceresessassasnsssessees (0.77) $ 0.11) $ (2.56)

The fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

2004 2003 2002
Expected option life ......c.ccrevveverercrnennnn, 3.9 years 3.9 years 3.9 years
Expected stock volatility........cceveeernene. 38.6% 38.9% 38.7%
Expected dividend yield.......ccververrnnnn 27 % 2.6% 2.6%
Risk-free interest rate..........coocvveeerearenen, 3.6% 2.4% 1.8%
Fair value of option........ceeevveevreecrnvnnnns $3.46 $3.36 $4.07

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires
companies to expense the value of employee stock options and similar awards. SFAS 123R is effective
for interim and annual financial statements beginning after June 15, 2005 and will apply to all outstanding
and unvested share-based payments at the time of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact SFAS 123R will have on its consolidated financial statements and will adopt such standard as
required.

Asbestos Litigation

In evaluating our potential asbestos-related liability, it is the accounting policy of the Company to
update in the third quarter of each year an actuarial study that was performed by a leading actuarial firm
with expertise in assessing asbestos-related liabilities. The most recent study has estimated an
undiscounted liability for settlement payments, excluding legal costs, ranging from $28 to $63 million for
the period through 2049. We concluded that no amount within the range of settlement payments was more
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likely than any other and, therefore, recorded the low end of the range as the liability associated with
future settlement payments through 2049 in our consolidated financial statements, in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. Legal costs, which are expensed as incurred, are estimated to
range from $22 to $27 million during the same period.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist
principally of cash investments and accounts receivable. We place our cash investments with high quality
financial institutions and limit the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. With respect to
accounts receivable, such receivables are primarily from warehouse distributors and major retailers in the
automotive aftermarket industry located in the United States. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of
our customers” financial conditions. Our five largest individual customers, including members of a
marketing group, accounted for 50%, 43% and 43% of consolidated net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Within our five largest customers, the largest customer accounted for 17%, 12% and 14% of
consolidated net sales in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Although we are directly affected by
developments in the vehicle parts industry, management does not believe significant credit risk exists. We
place our cash investments with a relatively small number of high quality financial institutions.
Substantially all of the cash and cash equivalents, including foreign cash balances, at December 31, 2004
and 2003 were uninsured. Foreign cash balances at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $10.1 million and
$9.7 million, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
(the “Medicare Modernization Act”) was signed into law. The Medicare Modernization Act expanded
Medicare to include, for the first time, coverage for prescription drugs. At present, proposed regulations
necessary to implement the Medicare Modernization Act have been issued, including those that would
specify the manner in which actuarial equivalency must be determined, the evidence required to
demonstrate actuarial equivalency, and the documentation requirements necessary to be entitled to the
subsidy. Based on such proposed regulations, we believe that our prescription drug benefit for our employee
retirees (other than certain union retirees) are expected to meet the actuarial equivalence test in 2006 and,
therefore, we would be eligible to receive a subsidy from Medicare. However, our net periodic
postretirement benefit cost does not reflect any amount associated with the subsidy because such subsidy is
immaterial in amount.

Inventory Costs

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs-An Amendment of ARB
No. 43, Chapter 4 (“SFAS 151”). SFAS 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, Inventory
Pricing, to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage). Among other provisions, the new rule requires that items such as idle
facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and rehandling costs be recognized as current-period
charges regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal” as stated in ARB No. 43.
Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of
conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005 and is required to be adopted beginning on January 1, 2006. The
Company is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of SFAS 151 will have on our consolidated
results of operations and financial condition but do not expect SFAS 151 to have a material impact.
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Pronouncements Relating to American Jobs Creation Act of 2004

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1 (“FSP 109-17), “Application
of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production
Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” It is effective immediately. FSP 109-1
states that the tax deduction of qualified domestic production activities, which is provided by the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”), will be treated as a special deduction as described
in SFAS No. 109. Consequently, the impact of the deduction, which is effective January 1, 2005, will be
reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed on the Company’s income tax returns. The
Company does not expect FSP 109-1 to have a material effect on its financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-2 (“FSP 109-2”), “Accounting
and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004”. FSP 109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance related to the Jobs Act
provision for the limited time 85% dividends received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign
earnings. Although adoption is effective immediately, FSP 109-2 states that a company is allowed time
beyond the financial reporting period to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on its plan for reinvestment or
repatriation of foreign earnings. The Company is evaluating the impact of the repatriation provisions of
the Jobs Act and will complete its review by December 31, 2005. It is not expected that these provisions
will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. Accordingly, as provided for in FSP
109-2, the Company has not adjusted its tax expense or net deferred tax assets to reflect the repatriation
provisions of the Jobs Act.

Share-Based Payment

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounts Standards No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R™). SFAS 123R is a revision to SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation” and supercedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” SFAS 123R establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity
exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services, primarily focusing on the accounting for
transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. Entities
will be required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award (with limited exceptions). That cost will be
recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service, the requisite service
period (usually the vesting period), in exchange for the award. The grant-date fair value of employee
share options and similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models. If an equity award is
modified after the grant date, incremental compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the
excess of the fair value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before
the modification. SFAS 123R is effective for interim and annual financial statements beginning after June
15, 2005 and will apply to all outstanding and unvested share-based payments at the time of adoption.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact SFAS 123R will have on its consolidated financial
statements and will adopt such standard as required.

2. Acquisitions and Restructuring Costs

Acquisition of Dana’s EMG Business

On June 30, 2003, we completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and assumed
substantially all of the operating liabilities of Dana Corporation’s Engine Management Group (“DEM”).
Prior to the sale, DEM was a leading manufacturer of aftermarket parts in the automotive industry
focused exclusively on engine management,
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Under the terms of the acquisition, we paid Dana Corporation $93.2 million in cash (includes
$1.9 million paid in 2004 for final payment), issued an unsecured promissory note of $15.1 million (as
discussed more fully in note 9 of notes to our consolidated financial statements), and issued 1,378,760
shares of our common stock valued at $15.1 million using an average market price of $10.97 per share.
The average market price was based on the average closing price for a range of trading days preceding the
closing date of the acquisition. Our final purchase price was approximately $130.5 million, which
included $7.1 million of transaction costs.

In connection with the acquisition of DEM, we compieted a public equity offering of 5,750,000
shares of our common stock for net proceeds of approximately $55.7 million. The net proceeds from this
equity offering were used to repay a portion of our outstanding indebtedness under our revolving credit
facility with General Electric Capital Corporation.

Effective June 30, 2003, we also amended and restated our credit agreement with General Electric
Capital Corporation, which increased the amount available under our revolving credit facility by $80
million, to $305 million, as discussed more fully in note 9 of notes to our consolidated financial
statements. We then financed the cash portion of the acquisition purchase price and the costs associated
with the acquisition by borrowing from our revolving credit facility.

The purchase price of the acquisition is summarized as follows (in thousands):

Value of common StOCK ISSUEH......ccvvveiireviiirirririeiereercreesnesoriessreessssessnesssansanrens $ 15,125
Unsecured promiSSory NOE.......ccceevicriemisinisictsscsenenisecsiscssrsncssrssnsessssessisasssossas 15,125
Cash CONSIAETALION ...ovvivuirieiiceivrrsicivsresesrerreieisrascreoiasessentessrastesinsersersasnssones 93,172

TOtal CONSIACTALION ...vvvvverriierrsererinirieriniereieeestersrestassersessnisrarsorsnssereossenossarens 123,422
TTANSACHION COSIS u.ivrvirneiririreereiisrerinisressessesstessersessseressessssssnssssssesstesssnssresssessssssonsns 7,077
Total PUICRASE PTICE ......ivverierreririnririnrerieerireesre v st sreressesessssensessvassmssserassessssnssens $ 130,499

The acquisition purchase price was based upon the final book value of the acquired assets of
DEM less the book value of the assumed liabilities of DEM as of the close of business on the closing
date, subject to a maximum purchase price of $125 million (not including transaction costs).

The following table summarizes the components of the net assets acquired based upon the final
purchase accounting (in thousands):

ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE. ... eerverirtririiircricreieeientiseenr s e este s sansrssssaresres e saessessnnanersesaanns $ 65,162
INVENLOTIES +1ecvanrveuerccrcrcrricrrieeriestercrretesreesbesaeree st stessaneasantesaesasssasnsnsessesssssanssssensenns 81,693
Property, plant and €QUIPMENT ......c..coceeicvrevenrerrresisairteresisrscsirassesassesesrsssoneasasessns 17,165
GOOAWIIL ...eerreereierieriierisrerrssrs e s esterevessssessssesabesessasesssssssensasssessasssssssanessssssssasss 39,847
Intangible assets:

Customer relationships (estimated useful life of 10 years) .......c.ccevsrirvvrevveenennnn, 10,000

Trademarks and tradenames (indefinite life).....cccerreennernecninninsenecinnesnssennens 6,100
ORET SSEES .c.vereeveriierierinreerertereeeeeaiestarseresesestebeststsntbsrentasersassssentasssans sesssessensansetontss 128
Total assets ACQUITEA.....c.cvovveceerrecsse st s sss e e e sessbes s sss o essons $ 220,095
ACCOUNES PAYADIE. ...v.veisersesievesiesisiesseirisnssninssessssssessovesesoressstessessssstessarantinesssessssasins $ 30,247
Sundry payables and accrued eXPEnSses ..........covvvierverriiriersesrsisssesiisssnsseresssrsssessones 32,152
AcCCrued CUSIOMET TEIUINIS c..vvvvevrarrressseessssesrsisessesesinsssessesorssisessssessesssssensosssosessasesenss 7,013
Payroll and COMMISSIONS ........ccvervrirreirieierererererieecereiesrereereseaeeseseesessassssnessssrnenes 3,984
OLher LHADIHEES ....cecvvvereveerrricrmrrsrr e sissetessnnenssenssstsssstsssssssssrsssssossasisesesessssns 16,200
Total liabilities ASSUMEA ......cccovvreerericsrveirereritrcrienssrcrssssis s ivsesssnsnseasssrassereesseseses 89,596

Net aSSEIS ACAUITED ...ccvvvirvrierirnrirtrrrrrin et esssressissesssnssesssae e sseessestsasseesbesssssnsrsssens $ 130,499
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The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase transaction in accordance with SFAS 141, and
accordingly, the assets and liabilities acquired were recorded at their fair value at the date of the
acquisition, and the results of operations of DEM is included in our results beginning on the June 30,
2003 acquisition date.

The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired was
recorded as goodwill. Certain adjustments were made to goodwill subsequent to the acquisition date and
are described in note 7 of notes to our consolidated financial statements. Goodwill of $39.8 million
resulting from this acquisition has been assigned to our Engine Management reporting unit. Goodwill
associated with this acquisition will be deductible for tax purposes.

The following table represents our unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, as if the acquisition of DEM had been completed at
January 1, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The pro forma information is presented for comparative purposes
only and does not purport to be indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition actually been
made at such date, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results.

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
(in thousands)

NEE SAIES v eviieeiitreererirrr et sere et e e srsre st st e s et bsrs s ar s e s saesesasnesenrsesanassenes $ 822,515 $ 822,401
Loss from continuing 0perations...........cvcevvrenienieserinsesensseesessesessnssssssessens $ (2,246) $  (36,231)
Loss before cumulative effect of accounting change .......cccccceevvvvreeneeee $ (3,988) $  (54,528)
NELLOSS cuviiiriieriiresieieere e ste st et e e s e ree s st s s s b e e sas s sanesesreraesesaessesesassaren $ (3,988) $ (72,878)
Net loss per common share:

NEL 1055 = BASIC c.eivvrveereriniceriereereireerertsresessenesiesetessessss st sssssessansesassssones $ 0.21) $ (3.82)
Net 1058 - DIUtEd o..viiieriicre e seersasesnes $ (0.21) $ (3.82)

Restructuring Costs

In connection with the acquisition, we have reviewed our operations and implemented integration
plans to restructure the operations of DEM. We announced in a press release on July 8, 2003 that we will
close seven DEM facilities. As part of the integration and restructuring plans, we accrued an initial
restructuring liability of approximately $34.7 million at June 30, 2003 (subsequently reduced to $33.7
million during 2003). Such amounts were recognized as liabilities assumed in the acquisition and
included in the allocation of the cost to acquire DEM. Accordingly, such amounts resulted in additional
goodwill being recorded in connection with the acquisition.

Of the total restructuring accrual, approximately $15.7 million related to work force reductions
and represented employee termination benefits. The accrual amount primarily provides for severance
costs relating to the involuntary termination of employees, individually employed throughout DEM’s
facilities across a broad range of functions, including managerial, professional, clerical, manufacturing
and factory positions. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, termination benefits of $9.4
million and $2.1 million, respectively, have been charged to the restructuring accrual. As of December 31,
2004, the reserve balance was at $4.2 million. We expect to pay $2.8 in 2005 for workforce reductions.

The restructuring accrual also includes approximately $18 million associated with exiting certain
activities, primarily related to lease and contract termination costs, which will not have future benefits.
Specifically, our plans are to consolidate certain of DEM operations into our existing plants. At
December 31, 2004, seven facilities have ceased operating activities for which we have lease
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commitments through 2021. Exit costs of $2.9 million were paid in 2004 leaving the exit reserve balance
at $15.1 million as of December 31, 2004,

Selected information relating to the restructuring costs included in the allocation of the cost to
acquire DEM is as follows (in thousands):

Workforce Other Exit

Reduction Costs Total
Restructuring liability at December 31, 2003 ............ $13,615 $18,000 $31,615
Cash payments during 2004 .........c.coecnrircreiennnicrinnes 9,365 2.857 12,222
Restructuring liability as of December 31, 2004 ....... $ 4250 $15,143 $19,393

Other Acquisitions

In January 2002, we acquired the assets of a Temperature Control business from Hartle Industries
for $4.8 million. The assets acquired consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, and inventory.

In April 2002, we acquired Carol Cable Limited, a manufacturer and distributor of wire sets
based in England, for $1.7 million. The assets acquired consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, and inventory. In addition, during 2002 we acquired the remaining equity interest in SMP
Holdings Limited.

In May 2002, we purchased the aftermarket fuel injector business of Sagem Inc., a subsidiary of
Johnson Controls, for $10.5 million. Sagem Inc. is a basic manufacturer of fuel injectors, and was the
primary supplier to us prior to our acquisition. The assets acquired consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, and inventory. The purchase was partially financed by the seller and an aggregate of $5.4
million was paid over a two-year period, with the remaining funds being provided under our revolving
credit facility.

On February 3, 2004, we acquired inventory from the Canadian distribution operation of Dana
Corporation’s Engine Management Group for approximately $1 million. We have relocated such
inventory into our distribution facility in Mississauga, Canada.

Our 2002 and 2004 acquisitions did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

3. Change in Accounting Principle
Accounting for New Customer Acquisition Costs

New customer acquisition costs refer to arrangements pursuant to which we incur change over
costs to induce a new or existing customer to switch from a competitor’s brand. In addition, change over
costs include the costs related to removing the new customer’s inventory and replacing it with Standard
Motor Products inventory commonly referred to as a stocklift. New customer acquisition costs were
initially recorded as a prepaid asset and the related expense was recognized ratably over a 12-month
period beginning in the month following the stocklift as an offset to sales. In the fourth quarter of 2004,
we determined that it was a preferable accounting method to reflect the customer acquisition costs as a
reduction to revenue when incurred. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”)
20, “Accounting Changes” and FAS 3, the change in accounting for new customer acquisition costs
effective as of October 1, 2004 is reflected in the following unaudited quarterly 2004 results as if the
change had occurred on January 1, 2004 with the quarterly results for the first, second and third quarters
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of 2004 restated as if the new policy had been in effect throughout 2004 (in thousands, except per share

data):

2004

Net sales, as reported.......c.oovmeeeciererercrennssicasasessanas

Cumulative effect at January 1, 2004 ...........ccouvnnen.

Effect of change in accounting for new customer
acquisition costs, net of tax effects............cco.....

New sales, as adjusted........ccrvrerrrererecrnrerervenerersnnes

Net loss, as reported ..........cceeevecrenrrrernnrecieseresennenns
Cumulative effect at January 1, 2004, net of tax
EITECLS ..ttt srenene
Effect of change in accounting for new customer
acquisition costs, net of tax effects..........cvuvrenee
Net loss, as adjusted ..........covuvveererrirnienrieecnerensnenas

Basic net loss per share, as reported..........conereninens
Cumulative effect at January 1, 2004, net of tax
EfTECES .ottt
Effect of change in accounting for new customer
acquisition costs, net of tax effects........c.couueuee
Basic net loss per share, as adjusted..........cccounueneee

Diluted net loss per share, as reported...........oevuenee
Cumulative effect at January 1, 2004, net of tax
EfTECLS oottt s et
Effect of change in accounting for new customer
acquisition costs, net of tax effects....................
Diluted net loss per share, as adjusted............ccvovunee.

4. Sales of Receivables

In 2004, the Company entered into agreements to sell undivided interests in certain of its

1st Quarter
(Restated)

{Unaudited)

$204,781
(2,605)

148
202,324

(970)

(1,564)

2nd Quarter
(Restated)

(Unaudited)

$235,049

83
235,132

6,692

50
6,742

0.35

0.35

0.34

0.34

3rd Quarter
(Restated)

{Unaudited)

$203,487

(220)
203,267

(676)

(132)
(808)

(0.03)

(0.01)
(0.04)

(0.03)

(0.01)
(0.04)

4th Quarter

(Unaudited)

$180,966

180,966

(19,426)

(19,426)

(1.00)

(1.00)

(1.00)

(1.00)

receivables to factoring companies, which in turn have the right to sell an undivided interest to a financial
institution or other third parties. We enter these agreements at our discretion when we determine that the
cost of factoring is less than the cost of servicing our receivables with existing debt. Pursuant to these
agreements, we sold $194.4 million of receivables during 2004. We retained no rights or interest, and
have no obligations, with respect to the sold receivables. We do not service the receivables after the sale.

The sale of receivables was accounted for as a sale in accordance with SFAS No. 140,

“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.” The
sold receivables were removed from the balance sheet at the time of sale. These costs were $2.4 million in
2004 and are recorded in selling, general and administrative expense.
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S. Inventories
December 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)
Finished goods, Net.......ovcccvirecinreinrnneeerireciensecsnnrssinssessssenes $192,017 $191,340
WOrK in ProCess, NEL ... ccicrinernnnesnrnisernsrissessnsnserensnesssesnens 4,691 7,913
Raw materials, Net .........ccivvvcveierervinnienneneinsreinerenseveressssseessnes 61,933 54,501
Total INVENTOTIES, NEL ....vcvieveriieirccreict e seeeeseeseesbese e $258,641 $253,754
6. Property, Plant and Equipment
December 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)
Land, buildings and improvements ............cocoeeeremeresrvernreersrecssenns $ 72,284 $ 71,900
Machinery and eqUIPmEnt .......cccocvcrvveenrneeccrnieenresnsnseressecencsrens 142,134 137,770
Tools, dies and auxiliary equipment...........cocerurueerercrencsneereeserenne 21,563 20,068
Furniture and fIXTULES ......oivvvvieiviinrecrcsisresninesere s ssnessesessnesionse 28,093 27,743
Leasehold improvements.........ccvcivverceievenrnseersrmseesmsesesseresronees 7,333 7,285
Construction iN PrOZIESS.....covieevrererrsrerenreeneerieeenerereseesssersensens 5,308 4,280
276,715 269,046
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization.........cceeeererienens 179,290 162,004
Total property, plant and equipment, net......c.coovcvvericeceresrnrerens $97,425 $107,042

Depreciation and amortization expense was $19 million and $17.1 million for 2004 and 2003,
respectively. This includes $2.2 million and $1.7 million for amortization of intangible assets for 2004
and 2003, respectively.

7. Goodwill and other Intangible Assets

We adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” on January 1, 2002. The
new guidance replaced the amortization of goodwill with periodic assessments of the fair value of
goodwill. Our initial impairment test, performed as of January 1, 2002, indicated that the carrying
amounts of some of our reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values, which were determined
based on the discounted estimated future cash flows of the reporting units, the Companies weighted
average cost of capital and market multiples. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss on goodwill as
a cumulative effect of accounting change of $18.3 million, net of tax, during the first quarter of 2002. The
impairment loss related to our European Operation and Temperature Control Segment for which we
recorded a charge of $10.9 million and $7.4 million, respectively. We completed our annual impairment
test of goodwill as of December 31, 2002 and after consideration to 2002 losses and budgeted 2003
losses, we recorded an impairment loss of our remaining goodwill associated with the Engine
Management reporting unit of our European Segment for which we recorded a charge of $3.3 million
during the fourth quarter of 2002.

We completed our annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2003 and determined
that our goodwill was not impaired.

Our annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31, 2004, indicated that the carrying
amounts of two of our reporting units exceeded the corresponding fair values, which were determined
based on the discounted estimated future cash flows of the reporting units, the Company’s weighted
average cost of capital and market multiples. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss in the fourth

54




STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
quarter of 2004 of our remaining goodwill in our Temperature Control and European Operation Segment
of $4.8 million and $1.6 million, respectively. We will continue to test for impairment of our remaining

goodwill at least annually in the future.

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill for our segments during the year-ended December
31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Engine Temperature
Management Control Eurogpe Total
Balance as of December 31, 2003........ccovveeee. $ 65,650 $ 4,822 $ 1,371 $ 71,843
Purchase accounting adjustments............co.e...... (15,313) — — (15,313)
Impairment 108S.......cccovrveervrereernevsievinnrerennens — (4,822) (1,607) (6,429)
Foreign currency adjustment..........cccocvieieveninnens — — 236 236
Balance as of December 31, 2004..................... $ 50,337 ' — $ — $ 50,337

In connection with the acquisition of DEM and the completion of purchase price allocations in
June 2004 (see note 2 of notes to our consolidated financial statements), goodwill has been adjusted by
$14.1 million for intangible assets (see Acquired Intangible Assets below) based on the fair market
valuation performed during the second quarter of 2004. Additionally, a purchase accounting adjustment
relating to the acquired inventory of $0.8 million was recorded during the second quarter of 2004. During
the third quarter of 2004, an additional $2 million was reclassified to intangible assets from goodwill.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangibles assets include computer software. The Company previously recorded
this as part of property, plant and equipment, but reclassified it in the fourth quarter of 2004 to
intangible assets. Computer software, net of amortization, was $4 million and $5.5 million as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Computer software is amortized over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 10 years.

Acquired Intangible Assets

Acquired identifiable intangible assets associated with the acquisition of DEM, as of December
31, 2004, consist of (in thousands):

Accumuliated
Gross Amortization Net
Customer relationships.........cccocvverereveerennennen $ 10,000 $ 556 $ 9,444
Trademarks and tradenames.........ccevvievivrennnne 6,100 — 6,100
$ 16,100 $ 556 $ 15,544

Of the total purchase price, $16.1 million was allocated to intangible assets consisting of
customer relationships and trademarks and tradenames; $10 million was assigned to customer
relationships and will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 10 years; and
the remaining $6.1 million of acquired intangible assets was assigned to trademarks and tradenames
which is not subject to amortization as they were determined to have indefinite useful lives.

Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is $1.1 million in each year during 2005
through 2009.
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8. Other Assets

December 31,

2004 2003

(In thousands)
Unamortized customer supply agreements ..........ccccveriimvrreeccrreresisnsersescseesuesesine $§ — $ 946
Equity in JOINt VENUIES ....co.eirierercecriiieeericeeni ettt sbres s se s ontsnens 1,938 2,322
Deferred income taxes, net (NOtE 16) ....cvvereveiiiierernenniniienieiesreresesesseseorasseescsnns 24,153 19,389
Deferred financing COSIS, NEL ........ocevevervrvrervirerisieiesireessssrerinsssesiesessasasssssosessonsanes 5,211 6,641
OBET 1ttt e et s b e s e 10,715 12,664
Total OthEr @SSELS, ML ..iivvirisiiirrererierrrrsre e teserseessersessissnorssrntsssssanssassnsnsesnes $42,017 $41,962

Included in the above caption “Other” is a preferred stock investment of $1.5 million in a
customer, which is carried at cost. Net sales to this customer amounted to $65.3 million, $53 million and
$60 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

9. Credit Facilities and Long-Term Debt

Effective April 27, 2001, we entered into an agreement with General Electric Capital
Corporation, as agent, and a syndicate of lenders for a secured revolving credit facility. The term of the
credit agreement was for a period of five years and provided for a line of credit up to $225 million.

Effective June 30, 2003, in connection with our acquisition of DEM, we amended and restated
our credit agreement to provide for an additional $80 million commitment. This additional commitment
increases the total amount available for borrowing under the revolving credit facility to $305 million from
$225 million, and extends the term of the credit agreement from 2006 to 2008. Availability under our
revolving credit facility is based on a formula of eligible accounts receivable, eligible inventory and
eligible fixed assets, which includes the purchased assets of DEM. After taking into effect outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility, there was an addition $82.9 million available for us to
borrow pursuant to the formula at December 31, 2004. Our credit agreement also permits dividends and
distributions by us provided specific conditions are met.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the interest rate on the Company’s revolving credit facility was
4.4% and 3.6%, respectively. Direct borrowings under our revolving credit facility bear interest at the
prime rate plus the applicable margin (as defined) or the LIBOR rate plus the applicable margin (as
defined), at our option. Outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility, classified as current
liabilities, was $103.6 million and $95.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
Company maintains cash management systems in compliance with its credit agreements. Such systems
require the establishment of lock boxes linked to blocked accounts whereby cash receipts are channeled to
various banks to insure pay-down of debt. Agreements also classify such accounts and the cash therein as
additional security for loans and other obligations to the credit providers. Borrowings are collateralized by
substantially all of our assets, including accounts receivable, inventory and fixed assets, and those of our
domestic and Canadian subsidiaries. The terms of our revolving credit facility provide for, among other
provisions, financial covenants requiring us, on a consolidated basis, (1) to maintain specified levels of
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), as defined in the credit
agreement, at the end of each fiscal quarter through December 31, 2004, (2) commencing September 30,
2004, to maintain specified levels of fixed charge coverage at the end of each fiscal quarter (rolling
twelve months) through 2007, and (3) to limit capital expenditure levels for each fiscal year through 2007.
We subsequently received a waiver of compliance with the EBITDA covenant for the fiscal quarters
ending September 30, 2004 and December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, we were not in compliance
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with the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio contained in our revolving credit facility. However, as of
March 31, 2005, we received a waiver of compliance of such covenant for the quarter ended December
31, 2004. The waiver was part of an amendment to our revolving credit facility, which provided, among
other things, for the following: (1) borrowings of the Company are no longer collateralized by the assets,
including accounts receivable, inventory and fixed assets, of our Canadian subsidiary; (2) the specified
levels of fixed charge coverage has been modified for 2005 and thereafter; (3) our Canadian subsidiary
was released from its obligations under a guaranty and security agreement; and (4) the Company’s pledge
of stock of its Canadian subsidiary to the lenders was reduced from a 100% to a 65% pledge of stock.

In addition, a foreign subsidiary of the Company has a revolving credit facility. The amount of
short-term bank borrowings outstanding under this facility was $5.8 and $3.8 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted average interest rates on these borrowings at December 31,
2004 and 2003 were 6.9% and 6.3%, respectively.

On July 26, 1999, we completed a public offering of convertible subordinated debentures
amounting to $90 million. The convertible debentures carry an interest rate of 6.75%, payable semi-
annually, and will mature on July 15, 2009. The convertible debentures are convertible into 2,796,120
shares of our common stock at the option of the holder. We may, at our option, redeem some or all of the
convertible debentures at any time on or after July 15, 2004, for a redemption price equal to the issuance
price plus accrued interest. In addition, if a change in control, as defined in the agreement, occurs at the
Company, we will be required to make an offer to purchase the convertible debentures at a purchase price
equal to 101% of their aggregate principal amount, plus accrued interest. The convertible debentures are
subordinated in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and future senior indebtedness.

In connection with our acquisition of DEM, we issued to Dana Corporation an unsecured
subordinated promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of approximately $15.1 million. The
promissory note bears an interest rate of 9% per annum for the first year, with such interest rate increasing
by one-half of a percentage point (0.5%) on each anniversary of the date of issuance. Accrued and unpaid
interest is due quarterly under the promissory note. The maturity date of the promissory note is five and a
half years from the date of issuance. The promissory note may be prepaid in whole or in part at any time
without penalty.

On June 27, 2003, we borrowed $10 million under a mortgage loan agreement. The loan is
payable in monthly installments. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.50% maturing in July 2018.
The mortgage loan is secured by a building and related property.

Long-term debt consists of (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
6.75% convertible subordinated debentures ........coovvevvcevvicerinecnecrnnenieeerien $ 90,000 $ 90,000
Unsecured promiSSOTY NOLE......vuvereersreseersrmvisieresissessressesssresssestsressarssssssssesssressssses 15,125 15,125
MOrtEage 108N ......cceivvciirierercrcr ettt be b e e e saernes 9,381 9,824
OhET oottt et sa st es s re s sre bbbt b nene 264 3,162
114,770 118,111
eSS CUITENE POTHION ...t coerteicereeere e ste s st s e rassssn e e sssesesn s ses s sssaneveranns 534 3.354
Total non-current portion of long-term debt........ccoeevereveverennnininneeninenenns $114,236  $114,757

Maturities of long-term debt during the five years ending December 31, 2005 through 2009 are
$0.5 million, $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $0.6 million and $15.7 million, respectively.
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The Company had deferred financing cost of $5.2 million and $6.6 million as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. These costs related to the Company’s revolving credit facility, the
convertible subordinated debentures and a mortgage loan agreement, and these costs are being amortized
over three to eight years.

10. Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The principal
financial instruments used for cash flow hedging purposes are interest rate swaps. We enter into interest
rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to interest rate charges. The swaps effectively convert a
portion of our variable rate debt under the revolving credit facility to a fixed rate, without exchanging the
notional principal amounts.

In October 2003, we entered into a new interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$25 million that is to mature in October 2006. Under this agreement, we receive a floating rate based on
the LIBOR interest rate, and pay a fixed rate of 2.45% on the notional amount of $25 million. We have
recorded an asset of $362,000 to recognize the fair value of interest derivatives, and we have also
recorded a tax liability of $91,000 associated therewith. The net offset is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income .

In July 2001, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional
principal amount of $75 million, one of which matured in January 2003 and the other matured in January
2004. Under these agreements, we received a floating rate based on the LIBOR interest rate, and paid a
fixed rate of 4.92% on a notional amount of $45 million (matured in January 2004) and 4.37% on a
notional amount of $30 million (matured in January 2003).

If, at any time, the swaps are determined to be ineffective, in whole or in part, due to changes in
the interest rate swap or underlying debt agreements, the fair value of the portion of the interest rate swap
determined to be ineffective will be recognized as gain or loss in the statement of operations in the
“interest expense” caption for the applicable period. It is not expected that any gain or loss will be
reported in the statement of operations during the year ending December 31, 2005 nor has any been
recorded in 2004, 2003 or 2002.

11. Stockholders’ Equity

We have authority to issue 500,000 shares of preferred stock, $20 par value, and our Board of
Directors is vested with the authority to establish and designate series of preferred, to fix the number of
shares therein and the variations in relative rights as between seties. On December 18, 1995, our Board of
Directors established a new series of preferred shares designated as Series A Participating Preferred
Stock. The number of shares constituting the Series A Preferred Stock is 30,000. The Series A Preferred
Stock is designed to participate in dividends, ranks senior to our common stock as to dividends and
liquidation rights and has voting rights. Each share of the Series A Preferred Stock shall entitle the holder
to one thousand votes on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Company. No such
shares were outstanding at December 31, 2004,

On January 17, 1996, our Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (“Rights Plan”).
Under the Rights Plan, the Board declared a dividend of one Preferred Share Purchase Right (“Right”) for
each of our outstanding common shares. The dividend was payable on March 1, 1996 to the shareholders
of record as of February 15, 1996. The Rights are attached to and automatically trade with the outstanding
shares of our common stock.
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The Rights will become exercisable only in the event that any person or group of affiliated
persons becomes a holder of 20% or more of our outstanding common shares, or commences a tender or
exchange offer which, if consummated, would result in that person or group of affiliated persons owning
at least 20% of our outstanding common shares. Once the rights become exercisable, they entitle all other
shareholders to purchase, by payment of an $80.00 exercise price, one one-thousandth of a share of Series
A Participating Preferred Stock, subject to adjustment, with a value of twice the exercise price. In
addition, at any time after a 20% position is acquired and prior to the acquisition of a 50% position, our
Board of Directors may require, in whole or in part, each outstanding Right (other than Rights held by the
acquiring person or group of affiliated persons) to be exchanged for one share of common stock or one
one-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock. The Rights may be redeemed at a price of $0.001
per Right at any time prior to their expiration on February 28, 2006.

During the years 1998 through 2000, our Board of Directors authorized multiple repurchase
programs under which we could repurchase shares of our common stock. During such years, $26.7
million (in aggregate) of common stock has been repurchased to meet present and future requirements
of our stock option programs and to fund our ESOP. As of December 31, 2004, we have Board
authorization to repurchase additional shares at a maximum cost of $1.7 million. During 2004, 2003 and
2002, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Foreign currency translation adjustments .........cceecveeerevvverienreresieresresssssssasenens $ 8,022 $ 5,780
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap agreement, net of tax ........c.cccooecreeeenene. 272 ai
Minimum pension liability, net 0f taX........cc.ocvevercreicinrencccnnrnverrecnce e sesonaes (3,489) (855)

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (108S) .......coovvreerereererernnn $ 4,805 $ 43814

12. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

We have principally four fixed stock-based compensation plans. Under the 1994 Omnibus Stock
Option Plan, as amended, which terminated as of May 25, 2004, we are authorized to issue 1,500,000
stock options. The options become exercisable over a three to five year period and expire at the end of
five years following the date they become exercisable. Under the 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan, which
terminates as of May 20, 2014, we are authorized to issue 500,000 stock options. The options become
exercisable over a three to five year period and expire at the end of ten years following the date of grant.
Under the 1996 Independent Directors’ Stock Option Plan and the 2004 Independent Directors” Stock
Option Plan, we are authorized to issue 50,000 stock options under each plan. The options become
exercisable one year after the date of grant and expire at the end of ten years following the date of grant.
Options forfeited under the stock option plans are eligible to be granted again with respect to the options
so forfeited. At December 31, 2004, an aggregate 1,192,745 shares of authorized but unissued common
stock were reserved for issuance under our stock option plans. A summary of the status of our stock
option plans follow:
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2004 2003 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(Shares in thousands)
Qutstanding at beginning
o3 577 NSOV 1,163 $16.33 910 $17.14 1,011 $16.76
Granted........eceeeerrernerereeercnriscsesesninreene 251 14.21 346 14.69 10 14.43
EXErcised......oceereerrirnvurnescrvnsensorersunnnns (101) 8.77 3) 9.79 (54) 9.74
Forfeited.......c.cvrevvrvinneinnnvensnccsnnncnnnns (121) 19.33 (90) 18.29 (57) 16.91
Outstanding at end of year.................... 1,192 $16.20 1,163 $16.33 910 $17.14
Options exercisable at end
Of YEAT ...ttt 729 800 748
STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
Shares Weighted-Average
Range of Outstanding Remaining Contractual  Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices at 12/31/04 Life (Years) Exercise Price
(Shares in
thousands)
$9.29-5$11.29 225 2.8 $10.54
$12.10- $16.94 627 6.7 $14.54
$21.50 - $24.84 340 1.1 $22.98
STOCK OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
Range of Shares Exercisable Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices at 12/31/04 Exercise Price
(Shares in
thousands)
$9.29-%$11.29 225 $10.54
$12.10 - $16.94 164 $14.12
$21.50 - $24.834 340 $22.98

13. Retirement Benefit Plans

We had a defined benefit pension plan covering certain former employees of our former Brake
business. During 2002, a partial settlement of the plan occurred in conjunction with the purchase of non-
participating annuity contracts for plan members. The final settlement under the plan will occur when the
remaining assets under the plan are distributed. All pension benefit obligations have been satisfied and the
projected benefit obligation under the plan is $0.
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The following table represents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending benefit obligation, the
fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the plan (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Benefit obligation at beginning 0f YEar.......ccouvcvveriirriierereresrnensreersnssrscesseseeseses $§ — $ —
INEETESE COSE..iieiiiiretirerinerecrenemieoneestrisenssessesreustesessssesatorssessonsestsstssestmsantossesons — -
ACHURLIAL 10SS .ovvvvreeireiicerirerersnercines e resesiesrsses e ss s st s seesssseserseneosessssssesaenssasssscnns — —
SERIEMENT ..ovvieriiiiiricccniies sttt et sa e reb e b s sbssessrasbesbesanne s — —
BEnefits PAIA ....o.cvcvviiierrieeinicietrs s st s bbbt n e senes 5§ — —
Benefit obligation at end of year..........ccvvvveinicieieniii e 5§ — $ —
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year.......c..oeeevricnriencnreneeeeveccve e $ 721 § 746
SEHIEMENL ...ttt recrree e ebass s rarsesesanerastessensesosassatesrasianse — —
Actual return on Plan SSELS .cvveieirriererrrcernireeneronesssrinsniariseessssessassesasrasseraessas (21) (25)
BEnefits Paid ...cooccrviriirieiriererres e e s et ens (106) —_
Fair value of plan assets at end of year.........c.cccocenrievcrrnnincroniennonsorescenenn e $ 594 $ 721
FUNAEA STALUS .....vecriaeeeninecenaeranraceerennssesanssanssseessnsssnesessesasesensarsenest ssasesasensassansssine $ 594 $ 721
Unrecognized net actuarial 1SS ....vcveiecvnievnuicmnnariniccsinemninmssionisssnnsasiorassasessons 92 81
Prepaid Benefit COSt...ciimivimiinreriinssressesis e ieresestsrarensereresserssessessensaresssnreres $ 686 $ 802

Weighted average assumptions are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

DiSCOUNLE TALES......eeuerereirennsrareensnessmsanessssantosssesssnasessseseasensasosanrasosastsesseses N/A N/A 6.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on @SSetS......c.ovecerveererrerererssrereeronserense N/A N/A 8.00%

Components of net periodic (benefit) cost follow (in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003 2002
INEETEST COSL...vvviiirnierresrirrresrnsescsntssesstesss s resss s sassa et sesessesonns $ — § — $ 368
RETUITL ON @SSEIS ..coeecvrereereeiriireeenieesesnesrannsssetesassnssassessnssessesans — (8) (530)
SERIEMENT ......ovuiieiiiiiieee e ee et eresras e s sre e s ene e e snas — — 228
Recognized actuarial (gain) 10SS ...cccviveevnviveciviiennrece s sincenennene 116 8 (5)
Net periodic (Denefit) COSt ....cvivvrrimmiiererreimrrerrrererenieeerereressonne $116 § — § 6l

In addition, we participate in several multi-employer plans which provide defined benefits to
substantially all unionized workers. The Multi-employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 imposes
certain liabilities upon employers associated with multi-employer plans. We have not received
information from the plans’ administrators to determine our share, if any, of unfunded vested benefits.
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We and certain of our subsidiaries also maintain various defined contribution plans, which

include profit sharing and provide retirement benefits for other eligible employees. The provisions for
retirement expense in connection with the plans are as follows (in thousands):

Multi- Defined Contribution
employer Plans and Other Plans
Year ended December 31,
2004 ... e st es e s s s ne e et et $ 454 $ 3,980
2003 e e ee et bas e ss s e rens 325 3,518
2002 ettt er st s et be st g ase e srees 306 2,553

We have an Employee Stock Ownership Plan and Trust (“ESOP”) for employees who are not
covered by a collective bargaining agreement. Employees were granted 110,000 shares, 75,000 shares and
75,000 shares during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, under the terms of the ESOP. These shares were
issued directly from treasury stock.

In fiscal 2000, we created an employee benefits trust to which we contributed 750,000 shares of
treasury stock. We are authorized to instruct the trustees to distribute such shares toward the satisfaction
of our future obligations under employee benefit plans. The shares held in trust are not considered
outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share until they are committed to be released. The
trustees will vote the shares in accordance with its fiduciary duties. During 2004, we committed 110,000
shares to be released leaving 415,000 shares remaining in the trust. The provision for expense in
connection with the ESOP was approximately $1.6 million in 2004, $0.9 million in 2003 and $1.2 million
in 2002.

In August 1994, we established an unfunded Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) for
key employees. Under the plan, these employees may elect to defer a portion of their compensation and,
in addition, we may at our discretion make contributions to the plan on behalf of the employees. Such
contributions were $79,000, $99,000 and $46,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

On October 1, 2001, we adopted a second unfunded SERP. The SERP is a defined benefit plan
pursuant to which we will pay supplemental pension benefits to certain key employees upon retirement
based upon the employees’ years of service and compensation. We use a January 1 measurement date for
this plan.

December 31,

2004 2003

(In thousands)
Benefit obligation at beginning of YEar........c.cveeerverrierrnverncererierssinseeresens $4,253 $2,275
SETVICE COST..vvcrvrnriirereriierenieessiseninisies e sseseronsssasasressessssnsarssescaseessesenansssssnosasss 356 351
INTETEST COSE..ouviruioricreerenerecierriotenresseniesserenisesresenseeressesesasssssteseorsesessnenssssansass 232 220
ACUATIAL 10SS <.vovvreerieciitieieericiciestirecnsieceretcetscaessecasastva e seenessenssssssesseeinsres (242) 1,407
Benefit obligation at end of year.........cocoeivreiirenicreiienrcn e $ 4,599 $ 4,253
FUNAEd SLATUS ..cveeiieireiereirirnersereressernserseesasserassesesassessrasassassesasassiesaeressoraens (4,599) $(4,253)
Unrecognized Prior SEIVICE COSL....oiiivmiiniriinriritieeiesieenreeevineernsesesssenseeenses 911 1,022
Additional minimum pension lability .........ccovvermrivnririnrnensninennsenniensenennees (1,455) (1,877)
Unrecognized net actuarial 10SS ........cocvmerermrnnnnercnnisinnesssrsenseseninseresesssissnes 1,430 1,800

ACCTUEd DENEfit COSE ...ovriiiivirrrisercirrre s s e snesereres s ese s te bt aene $(3,713) $(3,308)




STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Components of net periodic benefit cost follow (in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003
SEIVICE COSE1utiereurrrirercinmiatiriessenstiesesssseresesessassassssnsesenstesesnassessssersssesmssanios § 355 § 351
INTETESE COSE.uiiviiriiriiniiiircrtrrnninn it et e st s s sreesesstan 232 220
Amortization of Prior SEIVICE COSt covinrininirimrineiiinerererere e e arenenns 111 110
Amortization of unrecognized 1SS ..........cccivininvnninicnninnnnsrsseseresenns 128 146
Net periodic benefit Cost ..o iiimiieennrieenecinreraessessesesesessancnee $ 826 § 827

Actuarial assumptions used to determine costs and benefit obligations are as follows:

December 31,

| 2004 2003
DISCOUNT TALES....veeivvireeiirereierierssieiorsessnssresssaesessrtessiosessssersssassesensssavensassnsons 5.75% 6.00%
SAlArY INCTEASE ...cuveecerensrereereririieseresneresisssssnesesssasssressarssssnssesesnsnssssnassessans 4% 4%

The following table represents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending benefit obligation and
the funded status of our UK defined benefit plan:

December 31,

2004 2003

{In thousands)
Benefit obligation at beginning of year.......cocovvevermnviivennnnieresennen s s $3,224 $2,796
SEIVICE COSt.cvtiiirriiieriirietirrreee e csreste st isese st serssesssessantssasessasseressaesrenantenseras — —
INTETEST COSE...viieevereiircerrreieesierueeri e e ereet e sersesrisre e sseras s cossrensesesaesonsanessasens 171 154
ACHUATIA] [OSS 1uveveerrrerrrenrrnsrerienrunieeeeresaeteses e resssteterssssssessareresseseseresssssesens 75 103
Benefits PAIA ....civerrevreriniriecerireerinisieniensressie s e ses e saessnsesae (58) 87
Benefit obligation at end of Year.........ccvvveviveniniiennnenensesseessscssenns $3,412 $2,966
FUNAEd STALUS ....cooerriceririenticctrre st eretnrs s ererebese s ssssssen s orsssas sssseranses (1,059)  $(1,028)
Unrecognized prior SErvice COSt....cunniiermrriircesrnesese e sssseransesessses — —
Additional minimum pension lability .......ccccecvvvrevivinnncniereerereese e reniens (1,884) (758)
Unrecognized net actuarial 1088 ........vvcecvviivicninnciiiciennsnenssesnesessaessenns — —
ACCTUEd DENETIL COSE .vvivririeirriieneiereieresiorereceseseserrerssssetsrsesssaseressssensonsosease $(2,943) $(1,786)

Components of net periodic benefit cost follow (in thousands):
December 31,
2004 2003

SEIVICE COSL..eivireierrrinririersirerieretnis e sesss et s bers s s ae e e st ssersbsasasensesessesessans $ — —
INEEIESt COSE.ciiiiiiiinienre et et e et nsbesaesasbe s 171 154
Amortization of transition obligation............cccccvrveererincisceineencnneene — —
Amortization of Prior SErVICe COSt ....vvvuvrvirmrenrerasrencererisssrisienessmresesnsnsaneens — —
Amortization of net actuarial 10Ss.........ccccvereereerererninesren e — —
Recognized actuarial (2ain) 10SS ....cccecrereriererererinrererirssseeeseseseeesresssenes (150) (115)
Net periodic DEnefit COSE.......covrmivrricrnrerrnnrirereercerreneseesenssessresseressesesens $ 21 $ 39
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Actuarial assumptions used to determine costs and benefit obligations

are as follows:

December 31,

Discount rates
Current medical cost trend
Current dental cost trend
Ultimate medical cost trend
Year end rate declines to ultimate

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

..........................................................................

.............................................................................

........................................................................

...............................................................

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service,

expected to be paid (in thousands):

2004 2003
5.23% 5.34%
2.97% 2.94%
2.97% 2.94%
2.97% 2.94%

as appropriate, are

Pension

Benefits
2005ttt vt e et srar e s ensebtesresneenteranens 96
2000.....cueeireiairerieririree st tas e ss e b esrassbee e sebaebaesrnserbeessae e 116
2007 .o s et e it sar s e b e s e an R b e srs 135
2008 et e e s sar e s searosrassarees 154
2000.... ittt sb s e sabe b s ererestessanens 173
Years 2010 - 2014 .ot 1,156

14. Postretirement Medical Benefits

We provide certain medical and dental care benefits to eligible retired
policy is to fund the cost of the health care plans on a pay-as-you-go basis.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending benefit obligation and

the funded status of the plan (in thousands):

employees. OQur current

December 31,

2004 2003
Benefit obligation at beginning of year.........cccovevvvrrcenrrvecnennnen $ 32,193 $ 27,100
SEIVICE COSE..urrereriiiiirieiiriieeretesiereesnte s e bt es st esastessstesensessssnsessnsons 3,486 2,618
INEETESE COSt..evvvrreriiirieirierirenir et ssreesasresssn e s s e st ssbsssnessanens 2,389 1,705
ACTUAMAL 10SS ...c.voviuieecneccriieirrr s ete e et arras e e es et nenssnesananens 9,928 1,761
Benefits Paid ......cocoreeeeceiiiierirninr i sr e en s srsaene s (1,036) (1,093)
Benefit obligation at end of Year..........cccvvecivveremnrninrriinesereseesnrenene $ 46,960 $ 32,091
Funded Status ....cccccoeeciincecnnenicernnse e e $ (46,960) $(32,091)
Unrecognized transition obligation..........cccoverveviererienennennninnnns 401 407
Unrecognized prior SErvice COStS ....oouvvurvinieiniiiersioneereseiorassorens 542 666
Unrecognized net actuarial loSs ......c..evveevvmrincrninneseennennsseeenens 11,903 2,627
Accrued benefit COSt .....vvmieniirireiieinieriieee s erssbesee e snesns $(34,114) $ (28,391)

64




STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Components of net periodic benefit cost following (in thousands):

December 31
2004 2003 2002
SEIVICE COSLaurrirriiinrrvinsiisrieresstaeinresssiseesstessesssesssessersssessees $3,486 $2,618 $1,812
INLETEST COSE..uvvirirreririririerreersrrierstiesssreresnessresesseserssessesoans 2,389 1,705 1,563
Amortization of transition obligation........ccoeevicrirevinrvirinenn 42 38 32
Amortization of prior service cost ......cecevrenrrerensrencnnieiennns 124 124 124
Amortization of net actuarial 105 ......cccvvvivirrrinnrenninennennnne 5 — —
Recognized actuarial (gain) 10SS .......ccouvevvererervneresevernennnn, 663 41 (53)
Net periodic benefit COst.....ccerreveernernvennceerisincnsiesnnssens $6,709 $4,526 $3,478

Actuarial assumptions used to determine costs and benefit obligations are as follows:

December 31,

2004 2003 2002
DISCOUNL AL ...uvveviecrerrivrererrcsssenereenereseoresvaseerasssesssserassaesseesaness 5.75% 6.0%-6.5% 6.5%
Current medical cost trend rate .........ccvvevrercrrrreriieinernnsseieenns 10% 12% 12%
Current dental COSt trend........ocviriiiiiniiiisrensrinissessssisssasesasassesss 5% 5% 5%
Ultimate medical cost trend Fate ....ocvvveirrvrvireriinceereessiresiniens 5% 5% 5%
Year trend rate declines to ultimate .......ccocceevvivnivvvincmecnccrnrnenns 2009 2005 2005

We expect to pay benefits of approximately $1.1 million to our unfunded postretirement benefit
plan in 2005. Our measurement date for this plan is December 31.

The following benefit payments which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid (in thousands):

Pension

Benefits
2005 it $ 1,105
2000.....c et 1,162
2007 ... oo crreseornereeseeies 1,273
2008, e reraene 1,402
2009, 1,547
Years 2010 -2014 .......ccccccvveneen. 11,319

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the
health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the
following effects for 2004 (in thousands):

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-

Point Increase  Point Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components................. 699 (558)
Effect on post retirement benefit obligation...........ccoovceriuevrrrveninne 4,396 (3,548)

In December 2003, the Medicare Modemization Act was signed into law. The Medicare
Modernization Act expanded Medicare to include, for the first time, coverage for prescription drugs. At
present, proposed regulations necessary to implement the Medicare Modernization Act have been issued,
including those that would specify the manner in which actuarial equivalency must be determined, the
evidence required to demonstrate actuarial equivalency, and the documentation requirements necessary to be
entitled to the subsidy. Based on such proposed regulggions, we believe that our prescription drug benefit for
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our employee retirees (other than certain union retirees) are expected to meet the actuarial equivalence test
in 2006 and, therefore, we would be eligible to receive a subsidy from Medicare. However, our net periodic
postretirement benefit cost does not reflect any amount associated with the subsidy because such subsidy is

immaterial in amount.

15. Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands}
Interest and dividend INCOME ......cocrereiriirvrernrererererine s s s e seeaes $ 752 % 446 $1,338
Income from JOINt VENMIUIES ..c.uecurrrerrercerercariniererieniseniaresseseressesesresseseas 753 27 352
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment ..........occve. — (30D 97
Gain (loss) on foreign eXchange ...........ccccereeinemsesnsessssisnssesnsssssonns 731 (1,357) 108
Other INCOME — NEL...vuiiereeveieei et ierereesersreesreetesossesbsesbesereesanssransones 625 708 1,292
Total other income (EXPENSE), NEL .......eeruerereeerrererersresrereeesnserennans $ 28t $3U@7H $3,187

16. Income Taxes

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Current:
DOMESLIC. .cvcvrriiieetercrnviereeesrrereste s ssrraseressesestesssasesnessesentestorssaesnean $(2,476) $ 804 $2,422
FOQIQM ... ovieicriceniinereriensesseensesiesessrssenseseesenseseesssssssssnsaesransssaesees 4,022 2,035 2,948
TOtal CUITENL ..o st snesscesre st snestes e saras e srasneabes 1,546 2,839 5,370
Deferred:
DOMESTIC.....cciieitierrererrerererreies e e res oo seebesererestesesasbenaaresserens (4,558) (1,617) 3,350
FOT@IZN ..ot tirerisseenstestssresaress srs st st sessvenssnasinssssassssnssnns (667) (15) (800)
Total Deferred.......cvvvveveeieririerreicsiereeenieee et saesaesessessesesnsanns (5,225) (1,632) 2,550
Total income tax provision (benefit)........cooccovvirieinieicccinenninicnnnas $(3,679) $ 1,207 $7.920

We have not provided for U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries that are deferred from U.S. income taxation and that we intend to be permanently reinvested.
The Company has provided for U.S. income tax regarding those undistributed earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries subject to current taxation under Subpart F of the Internal Revenue Code. Cumulative
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries on which no U.S. income tax has been provided were $28.8
million at the end of 2004, $43.2 million at the end of 2003 and $37.7 million at the end of 2002.

Earnings (loss) before income taxes for foreign operations (excluding Puerto Rico) amounted to
approximately $6.8 million, $1.5 million and ($4.6) million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. U.S.
income taxes on the earnings of the Puerto Rican subsidiary are largely eligible for tax credits against
such U.S. income taxes (phased out effective at the end of 2005) and are partially exempt from Puerto
Rican income taxes under a tax exemption grant expiring in 2016.

Reconciliations between the United States federal income tax rate and our effective income tax
rate as a percentage of eamings from continuing operations before income taxes are as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

U.S. federal inCome taX Fate........ccueererierririermrinesiereracecssessiesscstssesssess sesnne 350% 35.0% 35.0%
Increase (decrease) in tax rate resulting from:

State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit................. 2.9 (7.2) 4.1
Non-deductible items, NEL......c..ccccvvercireerirc e b e rereas (1.4) 59.9 34
Income (benefit) taxes attributable to foreign iNCOmMe .....cc.cvvervvervierieieereriones 8.7) (111.0) (24)
Change in valuation alloWanCe ..........cuevviiveicrinvrisrcieesisssessssesssnssesseseens 1.4 107.6 16.4
EfFECtiVE 1X TLE .vevevver v res s en s s sss b enans 29.2% B84.3%  56.5%

The following is a summary of the components of the net deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
INVEIEOTIES 1vvevrvrir e cereeterercete e st et bess b es b et ares st serasbassnanrorassstonses susonearsonseas $ 5,548 $ 7,060
Allowance for CUSIOMEL FETUIMIS . cuuvuvurveiannireinsisieesisaseresaeseresssenssesessesssesassessens 6,963 6,453
Postretirement DENEfItS .......cecevivvieriieriniiice it e e s srabeabes 13,133 10,989
Allowance for doubtful CCOUNTS ....c.cevvervicriciiicesiere s esb e ebessssens 3,594 1,173
Accrued salaries and benefits .........cccccvevvecevieiieceiencsretsesre s e e ses 3,235 3,430
Net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards ......ccecvverrceriverecsvesnroninnnne 21,688 17,988
GOOAWIIL ..ottt et e st e as bbb sessasssnsssasonbenans 3,499 2,581
Accrued asbestos Habilities........coovvviiecivieieiic et sreene 11,141 10,430
L0 11 T O OO T TR OO SR RRURTUR TRt 5,823 5,583
74,624 65,687
Valuation alIOWENCE .....ccevveeericieei vt s sr e e snrans (23,057) (23,239)
TOAL o bbb ar e er bt st ebeneanan $ 51,567 $42,448
Deferred tax liabilities:
DEPIECIALION. c..evveereserieiaireretserstsaeasseesassnsaesss e esebere s s ssasesastosessssesnsnsnsaerross $ 8,703 $ 8,747
PromOtiONAL COSS .ouviuiniriniriiriiririeei et eseeresmet e ssr e bessonssaessnvonearessans 578 395
GOOAWILL c.reriiririreceriicrere ettt sb b es bt ns e e sbnesbaseeseesesans 1,603 688
ORET e e e b s b abs b ne st st ebbeb et 1,721 81
TOAL ot re s s bbb e s s e e s s e sr e n e R b e bbb ren 12,605 9,911
Net deferred tAX ASSELS.....covrreireireieriiresireerresrerteseresessressssosessrnssassesssssosses $ 38,962 $32,537

The current net deferred tax assets are $14.8 million and $13.1 million for 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The non-current net deferred tax assets are $24.2 million and $19.4 million for 2004 and
2003, respectively.

During 2004, we performed an assessment regarding the realization of the net deferred tax assets,
which includes projecting future taxable income, and have decreased the valuation allowance by $0.2
million. The valuation allowance is intended in part to provide for the uncertainty regarding the ultimate
utilization of the Company’s U.S. net operating loss carry forwards, U.S. capital loss carryovers, U.S.
foreign tax credit carryovers, and foreign net operating loss carry forwards.

With regard to the remaining net deferred tax assets, we have determined that it is more likely
than not that the results of future operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the related
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benefits. However, if we are unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future through our
operations, increases in the valuation allowance may be required.

At December 31, 2004, we have approximately $39.7 million of domestic and foreign net
operating loss carry forwards, of which $28.7 million will expire between 2021 and 2024, with the
remainder (foreign) having an indefinite carry forward period. We also have foreign tax credit carry
forwards of approximately $1.1 million that will expire between 2010 and 2012. We also have alternative:
minimum tax credit carry forwards of approximately $6 million for which there is no expiration date.

17. Industry Segment And Geographic Data

Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No. 131,
“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” (“SFAS 1317), we have three
reportable operating segments, which are the major product areas of the automotive aftermarket in which
we compete. Engine Management consists primarily of ignition and emission parts, wire and cable, and
fuel system parts. Temperature Control consists primarily of compressors, other air conditioning parts and
heater parts. The third reportable operating segment is Europe, which consists of both Engine
Management and Temperature Control reporting units.

The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies (see note 1 of notes to our consolidated financial statements). The
following tables contain financial information for each reportable segment (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net sales:
Engine Management ..........cccecevovvemvcrnmivnvvrosnrenieernnes $562,769 $414,375 $303,112
Temperature Control........ccccccrverivenenserivenresnnennonnes 210,094 219,576 255,088
BUFOPE...overemiesieceiisvessetesesnssnssesssssssasssesssrnarsarases 40,651 40,141 36,028
OMhET «.ooriicinenc st svsnse e v sraassosaene 10,769 4,691 4,209
TOUA] oeeinirrrenieniecetrie et es $824,283 $678,783 $598,437
Depreciation and amortization
Engine Management ..........ccceevvnienrecrennennisreeseeann $ 10,921 $ 9,362 $ 8,660
Temperature Control ..........ccoeovevererivemiesreniseverersnnes 5,640 5,688 5,484
BULOPE ....voveeevenreeneireeteeteneerensessnessesevereessesnnossensonns 1,444 1,046 902
OHhET ettt e ssanea s 1,008 996 1,082
TOUL et rere e ses s e s anir s $ 19,013 $17,092 $ 16,128
Operating profit (loss):
Engine Management ..........coccveeieivernrnerernnnecsvenrionen, $ 24,549 $31,871 $ 41,844
Temperature Control ........cccieveircivincincivninursncanens (2,114) 4,702 10,095
EUIOPE ..ocvivtiieeniiiniesiecientrenrnnsenientestesnnesessessssestessenns (2,034) (3,605) (10,464)
OhEr oot aes e ars s essrassssees (22,138) (17,153) (16,407)
TOAL ettt s e rone e st renene $ (1,737 $ 15,815 $ 25,068
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Years Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002
Investment in equity affiliates:
Engine Management ........cccocevcenencvirerenensessenencnsinns 58 — 58 — s —
Temperature CONrol ........covvvveereirenreesrernvesinsenensones — _ —
BUTOPE .eoeoiinierreetieereeniserenenies cnesasnssnsssssseresessssnnsanns (322) 42 185
OFBET ..ooviieiesreeeerrr st srcnerssrsseesresnsrossssrosnesrsnsssssmsenens 2,260 2,280 2,017
TOLAL oot ea e e e $ 1,938 $ 2,322 $ 2202
Capital expenditures:

Engine Management .........c..ocoeeivcrecerneneenesreerseersens $ 7,513 $ 5,473 $ 3,465
Temperature Control .........eoeeviernreennnsenreernenenoen 1,383 2,438 2,066
EUTOPE ceveeevereeccrirrerinnnesriteessressssissnassiesenesrssssesessnnnenes 793 1,015 1,831
OLhET oo et sn st nne s 85 — 236
Total oo Cevreeasrrre et reernst et erernaness $ 9,774 $ 8,926 $ 7,598

Total assets:
Engine Management ...........cooeeverernnenmennneeencrerennee $429,631 448,687 $247,318
Temperature Control .........c..covvervvnriniesveneiniscsroninnenns 125,656 150,248 157,343
EUTOPE woceevvrererereerercnnrerecservnressisaseonssnsessssassssiossnssns 30,936 31,188 30,728
OhEL .ottt et e sssens 70,346 64,402 55,369
TOAL coreeceirre et re s erese e rseeraesrseteanens $656,569 $694,525 $490,758

Reconciliation of segment operating profit (loss) to net income (loss):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Operating profit (10SS) ......ocerrervarrvcrecrminncrrenimecniennees $ (1,737) $ 15815 $ 25,068
Interest income (EXPense) .......cccvveivcvemrnvereessrnseennsnes 2,861 477) 3,187
INtErest EXPENSE ...c.vvviiiereesisirerrastisniressesinereesisnsnsenions 13,710 13,907 14,244
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes .... (12,586) 1,431 14,011
Income tax expense (benefit) ........cccocoviiicvriicrinnnens (3,679) 1,207 7,920
Earnings from continuing operations ..........ccccvovvnens (8,907) 224 6,091
Discontinued operation, net 0ftaX .......cocecervreerirrereense (3,909) (1,742) (18,297)
Cumulative effect of account change, net of tax ........ (1,564) — (18,350)
Net €arnings (0S5) ..oceeeverereerriarirecnrsiseeesniersiessaonne $  (14,380) $ (1,518) $§ (30,556)

Our five largest individual customers, including members of one marketing group accounted for
50% of consolidated net sales in 2004, with 36% and 14% of these net sales being generated from our
Engine Management and Temperature Control segments, respectively. Our five largest individual
customers, including members of one marketing group accounted for 43% of consolidated net sales in
2003, with 29% and 14% of these net sales being generated from our Engine Management and
Temperature Contro} segments, respectively. Our five largest individual customers, including members of
one marketing group accounted for 43% of consolidated net sales in 2002, with 22% and 21% of these net
sales being generated from our Engine Management and Temperature Control segments, respectively.

Other Adjustments consist of items pertaining to our corporate headquarters function, as well as
our Canadian business unit that does not meet the criteria of a reportable operating segment under SFAS
131.
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REVENUE
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
United StALES ...ccueiieerreceiceececcie e e rcnne s sns st srae s enesaasaesnsareeen $ 714,955 $ 584,853 $ 512,055
BUTOPE . et et see st sms s rssr et srsnenessensonassnestsnes 40,651 40,141 36,028
CANACA ....ocvvrvcieicrcrrinn st et er et san s eresessranne 45,115 38,187 32,188
Other FOrEiZN..uuniiimininnriincninrieiunieies s sesrecsesessssseseessasensasseneeses 23,562 15,602 18,166
TOUAL .vvvevrereervsrieereessestisvsessvssssesssisssssssissorestessersrssssvenssssssorsrasss $ 824,283 $ 678,783 $ 598,437
LONG LIVED ASSETS
Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
URtEd SEALES ....coreeerieieeerieeseicrrireeensesnsssessrsstessnsnsastossesssorsssnessanss $ 174,056  $192,574 $ 130,402
EUTOPE c.veve i secenasesseseesansessnssessssssnssssesassesassesessenesesnens 6,214 8,905 7,599
[0 o - Vo - R 4,144 4,488 4,432
Other FOTEILMN ...oovviriererreriiinrcsrininriensrsseesnisessssssssssasssssssssesessenes 785 998 1,273
o3 7. OO OO UTSTRR $ 185,199 $206,965 $ 143,706

Revenues are attributed to countries based upon the location of the customer.

18. Fair Value Of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of
financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

Trade Accounts Receivable

The carrying amount of trade receivables approximate fair value because of their short
outstanding terms.
Trade Accounts Payable

The carrying amount of trade payables approximate fair value because of their short outstanding
terms.
Short Term Borrowings

The carrying value of these borrowings equals fair market value because their interest rate reflect
current market rates.
Long-term Debt

The fair value of our long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or current rates

offered to us for debt of the same remaining maturities,
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Interest Rate Swaps

The fair value of our financial instruments are based on market quotes and represents the net
amount required to terminate the position, taking into consideration market rates and counterparty credit
risk.

The estimated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

Carrying

Amount Fair Value
December 31, 2004
Cash and cash eqUIVALENLS .....cceeeeiiiriniiinriiinin et ans sae e $14,934 $14,934
Trade aCCOUNLS TECEIVADIE ... uiiviiiiicicrrereistssessressassssesanessasnsesssessassssasennaassn 151,352 151,352
Trade accounts Payable.........cuvcereriievrieicicininenie e sesesee s e seesan e e 46,487 46,487
Short term DOITOWINES ...ccurevcerrereeriiniornnineenrestsressesessesssssmeessesessessassssesssesnasses 109,416 109,416
003 1 T:28 153 ¢ 1) We L) o PO U PR 114,770 113,554
INETEST FALE SWAPS...oiivireirtreiiinients i et istesestsestsrrssstsesorssronessasses suasns 362 362
December 31, 2003
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ........ccceceievnriiniiie e erarsste s $19,647 $19,647
Trade accounts T8CeIVADIC ...t s e sas s ones 174,223 174,223
Trade accounts PaYable.........ccccvreeerercnricenrineeeiereseeen et aseeeresseseen 58,029 58,029
Short 1ermM DOITOWINES .ovivierirrveicrersririrererissesssssesssessesssnssssesesssssesssssnsssarens 99,699 99,699
ST o7 0=y s 1 e 1< o) U OO 118,111 116,570
INTErESt FALE SWAPS....ecvvrceierirriirtrreereersrenierrestreresssssastesessaesiassessnsnsessssananses surene (148) (148)

19. Commitments and Contingencies

Total rent expense for the three-years ended December 31, 2004 was as follows (in thousands):

Real
Total Estate Other
2004 ..ottt seb e be e e s b e resr e nssearseseresanbesan $11,858 $ 7,686 $4,172
2003 ..ot e et sbe s rearestasa b e sr e be st e anes 12,286 9,143 3,143
2002 ... s et e ras e ae b e b e e s e e e sre b e e e e ans 8,434 6,282 2,152

At December 31, 2004, we are obligated to make minimum rental payments through 2021, under
operating leases, which are as follows (in thousands):

2005 et iieere i e rre s s b st e b e s e s b er b et sar e EerhssaeR b e eheabeeRresRe SRt eRaeseRs et esebisaserseranesaesaaer $ 9,697
2006 ...ttt sa e sas bt a e st e st s en et ta e ob s ok bea Rt e Rt oRaesarseREetRbaeaseb e e taesb et aere 8,249
2007 <ottt st e e st s e e s ra s R e she ses ek e e RS sRe e e e e ob e ke s R e e st tes srae R R e Rt sReerteeseennstenen 6,914
2008 ..ot e s et e e s s e st e ettt e st s et e s st s se R e se R s e s s anrraeesnse e aree e nnaneenen 4,756
2009 ...ttt e b b e b s sheers bt er b et e b arresessh e ke sRessteeRaeRs s et e s ibssbnoatesRe et senaeshtsn 3,735
Y 411N 1 (- OO USSR OO PRR 19,784

1 <3 1 TR $ 53,135

We also have lease and sub-lease agreements in place for various properties under our control.
We expect to receive operating lease payments from lessees during the five years ending December 31,
2005 through 2009 of $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $0.6 million, $0.5 million, and $0.3 million,
respectively.
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We generally warrant our products against certain manufacturing and other defects. These
product warranties are provided for specific periods of time of the product depending on the nature of the
product. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, we have accrued $13.2 million and $14 million,
respectively, for estimated product warranty claims included in accrued customer returns. The accrued
product warranty costs are based primarily on historical experience of actual warranty claims. Warranty
expense for each of the years 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $47.8 million, $46.6 million and $46.7 million,
respectively.

The following table provides the changes in our product warranties (in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003
Balance, beginning of period.........occcevrvncririniieniniercinsene e $13,987 $10,360
Assumed liabilities from acquisition of DEM ..........coecvivccniieriicennseneericereeens — 3,600
Liabilities accrued for current year Sales .........ccevureenrereecrecenienienossesnnoreseensorees 47,811 46,592
Settlements of Warranty Claims........cccecviivunrerereercnrnrereseeseeereserasrmssenceressessensenscens (48,604) (46,565)
Balance, end of PETiod .......cccvuruivuenecciiminnenirinc it rescteeressssne s esosens $13,194 $13,987

At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding letters of credit aggregating approximately $3.9
million. The contract amount of the letters of credit is a reasonable estimate of their value as the value for
each is fixed over the life of the commitment.

We entered into Change in Control arrangements with two key officers. In the event of a Change
of Control (as defined in the agreement), each executive will receive severance payments (as defined in
the agreement) and certain other benefits. ‘

In 1986, we acquired a brake business, which we subsequently sold in March 1998 and which is
accounted for as a discontinued operation. When we originally acquired this brake business, we assumed
future liabilities relating to any alleged exposure to asbestos-containing products manufactured by the
seller of the acquired brake business. In accordance with the related purchase agreement, we agreed to
assume the liabilities for all new claims filed on or after September 1, 2001. Our ultimate exposure will
depend upon the number of claims filed against us on or after September 1, 2001 and the amounts paid for
indemnity and defense thereof. At December 31, 2001, approximately 100 cases were outstanding for
which we were responsible for any related liabilities. At December 31, 2002, the number of cases
outstanding for which we were responsible for related liabilities increased to approximately 2,500, which
include approximately 1,600 cases filed in December 2002 in Mississippi. We believe that these
Mississippi cases filed against us in December 2002 were due in large part to potential plaintiffs
accelerating the filing of their claims prior to the effective date of Mississippi’s tort reform statue in
January 2003, which statute eliminated the ability of plaintiffs to file consolidated cases. At December 31,
2004, approximately 3,700 cases were outstanding for which we were responsible for any related
liabilities. We expect the outstanding cases to increase gradually due to recent legislation in certain states
mandating minimum medical criteria before a case can be heard. Since inception in September 2001, the
amounts paid for settled claims are $2.3 million. We do not have insurance coverage for the defense and
indemnity costs associated with these claims.

In evaluating our potential asbestos-related liability, we have considered various factors
including, among other things, an actuarial study performed by a leading actuarial firm with expertise in
assessing asbestos-related liabilities, our settlement amounts and whether there are any co-defendants, the
jurisdiction in which lawsuits are filed, and the status and results of settlement discussions. Actuarial
consultants with experience in assessing asbestos-related liabilities completed a study in September 2002
to estimate our potential claim liability. The methodology used to project asbestos-related liabilities and
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costs in the study considered: (1) historical data available from publicly available studies; (2) an analysis
of our recent claims history to estimate likely filing rates for the remainder of 2002 through 2052; (3) an
analysis of our currently pending claims; and (4) an analysis of our settlements to date in order to develop
average settlement values. Based upon all the information considered by the actuarial firm, the actuarial
study estimated an undiscounted liability for settlement payments, excluding legal costs, ranging from
$27.3 million to $58 million for the period through 2052. Accordingly, based on the information
contained in the actuarial study and all other available information considered by us, we recorded an after
tax charge of $16.9 million as a loss from discontinued operation during the third quarter of 2002 to
reflect such liability, excluding legal costs. We concluded that no amount within the range of settlement
payments was more likely than any other and, therefore, recorded the low end of the range as the liability
associated with future settlement payments through 2052 in our consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

As is our accounting policy, we update the actuarial study during the third quarter of each year.
The most recent update to the actuarial study was performed as of August 31, 2004 using methodologies
consistent with the September 2002 study. The updated study has estimated an undiscounted liability for
settlement payments, excluding legal costs, ranging from $28 to $63 million for the period through 2049.
The change from the prior year study was a $1.5 million increase for the low end of the range and a $7.9
million decrease for the high end of the range. As a result, in September 2004, an incremental $3 million
provision was added to the asbestos accrual increasing the reserve to approximately $28.2 million. Legal
costs, which are expensed as incurred, are estimated to range from $22 to $27 million during the same
period.

We plan on performing a similar annual actuarial analysis during the third quarter of each year for
the foreseeable future. Given the uncertainties associated with projecting such matters into the future, the
short period of time that we have been responsible for defending these claims, and other factors outside
our control, we can give no assurance that additional provisions will not be required. Management will
continue to monitor the circumstances surrounding these potential liabilities in determining whether
additional provisions may be necessary. At the present time, however, we do not believe that any
additional provisions would be reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity or
consolidated financial position,

On November 30, 2004, we were served with a summons and complaint in the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of New York by The Coalition For A Level Playing Field, which is an
organization comprised of a large number of auto parts retailers. The complaint alleges antitrust violations
by the Company and a number of other auto parts manufacturers and retailers and seeks injunctive relief
and unspecified monetary damages. The Company’s answer to the complaint has been delayed pending
service on other defendants. Although we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this case or estimate the
range of any potential loss that may be incurred in the litigation, we believe that the lawsuit is without
merit, strenuously deny all of the plaintiff’s allegations of wrongdoing and believe we have meritorious
defenses to the plaintiff’s claims. We intend to defend vigorously this lawsuit.

We are involved in various other litigation and product liability matters arising in the ordinary
course of business. Although the final outcome of any asbestos-related matters or any other litigation or
product liability matter cannot be determined, based on our understanding and evaluation of the relevant
facts and circumstances, it is our opinion that the final outcome of these matters will not have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
20. Quarterly Financial Data Unit (Unaudited)

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,

Quarter Ended 2004 2004 2004 2004
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

NEL SALES .euveeiirieirirririsrerreresressesesnsressaessssssssassssresssssnses $180,966 $203,487 $235,049 § 204,781
Gross Profit.....cceccieniieniinrinaimeeee oo 29,223 52,542 62,268 50,960
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations ...............c.. (17,245) 1,340 7,543 (545)
Loss from discontinued operation, net of taxes ............. 617) (2,016) (851) (425)
Cumulative effect on accounting change, net of taxes...  (1,564) — — —
Net €arnings (J05S) «..uecvvvrenrierraierinvereeressersscesseerseeennee $(19,426) $ (676) $ 6,692 § (970)

Net earnings (loss) from continuing
operations per common share;

BaSiC..ceirieieierieeieee ettt rase s eraees $ (089 $ 007 § 039 $ (0.03)

DiIUted.....ccieecerreenenieeeeterece s esaerenesreseanenens $ (089 $ 007 $ 0.38 $ (0.03)
Net earnings (loss) per common share:

BaSIC..ovierenieirisiecsinren st et s et $ (1.00) $ (0.03) $ 035 $ (0.05)

Diluted.....ccioiicniiinniiin s $ (1.00) $ (0.03) $ 034 $ (0.05)

\ Dec. 31, Sept. 30,  June 30, Mar., 31,
Quarter Ended 2003 2003 2003 2003
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net SAlES ..ccvvererenreseerierieee et ei e naeeens $162,454 $214,479 $166,125 $135,725
GrOSS PIOfit ..vecveeererrercmrerrmrieresenessansesrenesseressanessesenenses 38,125 58,288 43,819 34,540
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations................ (5,511) 2,042 4,300 (607)
Loss from discontinued operation, net of (370) (591) (433) (348)
TAXES..iervenvrverccririeisiestnsisssareterasissicssrnsncerencsssseseesons

Net eamnings (1085) ...cveevircrnniinniisiesesionesinnnsinesnnes $(5881) $ 1,451 $ 3,867 $ (955)

Net earnings (loss) from continuing
operations per common share:

BasiC .iuieieeresieenerine et et s s evsse st e snens $ (029 $ 0.11 $ 034 §$ (0.05)

Diluted......cccoemrivreersinrneririmsiorienesesiessseseiosessssans $§ 029 § 0.11 $§ 034 § (0.05
Net earnings (loss) per common share:

BasiC vt $ (031) $ 0.08 $ 031 $ (0.08)

Diluted.....cooonierrmrrenen. reerestene e e teaeresenasaans $ (031) $ 008 $ 031 § (0.08)

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we determined that it was a preferable accounting method to reflect
new customer acquisition costs as a reduction to revenue when incurred. Accordingly, we recorded a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting for new customer acquisition costs totaling $2.6 million (or
$1.6 million, net of tax effects) and recorded the accounting change as if it had taken effect on October 1,
2004. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2004, Engine Management gross margins were negatively
impacted primarily due to one-time charges related to inefficiencies and reducing inventories. In addition, in
the fourth quarter of 2004, we recorded an impairment loss on goodwill of $6.4 million, which impairment
loss related to our Temperature Control and European Operation Segment for which we recorded a charge
of $4.8 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

The fourth quarter of 2003 reflects unfavorable adjustments including approximately $2.9 million
of integration and restructuring costs related to DEM and our Temperature Control Segment; and a $2
million additional inventory obsolescence provision for Temperature Control inventory due to reduced
sales volume. '
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ITEMS. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, within 90
days of the filing date of this Report. This evaluation also included consideration of our internal controls
and procedures for the preparation of our financial statements as required under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has provided us with an
unqualified report on our consolidated financial statements for 2004. However, in the course of
conducting its assessment of our internal controls and its audit of our financial statements for our year
ended December 31, 2004, Grant Thornton advised management and the audit committee of our board of
directors that it had identified the following material weaknesses in our internal controls:

) There were insufficient personnel resources within the accounting and financial reporting
function due to accounting staff (including senior level employees) turnover occurring in
the fourth quarter of 2004.

2) There were deficiencies identified in the following areas of the Company’s information
technology function which, when considered in the aggregate, constitute a material
weakness over financial reporting:

. The Company’s IT system is decentralized with disparate IT platforms, business
solutions and software applications being utilized.

. System maintenance policies and procedures (including an enhanced disaster
recovery plan) require development and adoption.

. Security of systems used for the entry and maintenance of accounting records

requires additional documentation and scrutiny to ensure that appropriate access
to such systems and the data contained therein is restricted.

. A policy and procedure to address an overall security framework, including
password usage, intrusion detection, system security monitoring and back-up
recovery must be written and implemented.

3) There were deficiencies in the analysis and reconciliation of general ledger accounts
which were indicative of a material weakness in controls over closing procedures,
including the (a) month end cut off processes, and (b) the accounting and reporting of
restructuring charges.

While these material weaknesses did not have an effect on our reported results, they nevertheless
constituted deficiencies in our disclosure controls. In light of these material weaknesses and the
requirements enacted by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations adopted by
the SEC, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31,
2004, our disclosure controls and procedures needed improvement and were not effective at a reasonable
assurance level. Despite those deficiencies in our disclosure controls, management believes that there
were no material inaccuracies or omissions of material facts in this Report.
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Since the discovery of the material weaknesses in internal controls described above, management is
strengthening the Company’s internal control over financial reporting beyond what has existed in prior
years, and we have taken various actions to improve our disclosure controls and procedures and to
remediate our internal control over financial reporting including, but not limited to, the following:

¢)) We have engaged a search firm to assist us in the hiring of additional senior level accounting
staff. We expect to fill such positions by the second or third quarters of 2005. In addition, in
_the first quarter of 2005, we hired a Financial Compliance Manager to assist us with our
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance.

(2 We have re-allocated resources to our accounting and finance department to strengthen our
accounting function. In particular, in the first quarter of 2005 we have transferred one
employee from our European operations to become our Engine Management Group
Controller, and in the second quarter of 2005 we will be transferring one employee from our
Canadian operations to serve in a senior level accounting position in our Engine Management
division. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2004 we have hired an outside consultant to
assist us with our accounting function.

3) In 2004, we retained an independent third party consulting firm to assist us in the preparation,
documentation and testing of our compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. We intend to continue to utilize this consulting firm with our Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance efforts in 2005.

4 As part of our efforts to improve our IT function, we are in the process of:

e Establishing an enterprise wide information technology strategy to synthesize the
disparate IT platforms and to develop policies to unify the business solutions and
software applications being employed;

e Establishing a plan for uniform upgrades of workstations and software, including
virus protection and software fixes;

o Establishing a forma! policy and procedure to address the overall security framework,
including password usage, intrusion detection and system security monitoring;

¢ Improving our security measures to safeguard our data, including enhancing our

' disaster recovery plan;

¢ Improving our policies and procedures for system maintenance and handling back-up
and recovery tapes; and

+ Utilizing a consulting firm to assist us with preparing an IT policy and procedures
manual to document all of our updated IT procedures/standards on a company-wide
basis.

The continued implementation of the initiatives described above is among our highest priorities. We have
discussed our corrective actions and future plans with our audit committee and Grant Thornton and, as of
the date of this Report, we believe the actions outlined above should ¢orrect the above-listed material
weaknesses in our internal controls. However, in designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and are
subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment by individuals, the inability to identify
unlikely future events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no
assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud or ensure that all
material information will be made known to management in a timely manner. In addition, we cannot
assure you that neither we nor our independent auditors will in the future identify further material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that we have not
discovered to date.
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When in certain of the Company”s prior filings under the Exchange Act officers of the Company provided
conclusions regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, they believed that their
conclusions were accurate. However, after receiving and assessing the formal advice regarding our
internal control over financial reporting that our independent auditors provided in the course of the audit
of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have reached the conclusions set forth above.

We believe that the material weaknesses in our internal controls identified during our Sarbanes-Oxley
testing review and described above do not materially affect the fairness or accuracy of the presentation of
our financial condition and results of operation in our historical financial statements as set forth in this
Report or in our reports previously filed with the SEC under the Exchange Act.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2004 and subsequent to that date, we made and continue to make
changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, including
the following:

) Changes in our accounting personnel by (a) hiring a new Engine Management Group
Controller and a Financial Compliance Manager, and (b) launching a search for additional
senior level accounting staff.

2) Increased employee training and subscribed to an accounting research service in an effort to
keep more current with accounting pronouncements and financial reporting matters.

3) Increased responsibilities of a consulting firm with the requisite experience and expertise to
assist us in the implementation and compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

4) Improved the documentation of our significant accounting and IT policies.

We continue to review, document and test our internal control over financial reporting, and may from
time to time make changes aimed at enhancing their effectiveness and to ensure that our systems evolve
with our business. These efforts will lead to various changes in our internal control over financial
reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as part of this Report we have furnished a
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, in which we state that we were
unable to complete fully the required assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, and Grant Thornton has issued a “disclaimer” opinion indicating that they do not
express an opinion as to management’s assessment and as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2004. Notwithstanding Grant Thornton’s
“disclaimer” opinion, Grant Thornton has indicated its agreement with the above listed weaknesses in our
internal controls. Grant Thomnton has also advised our audit committee of our board of directors that the
internal contro! weaknesses do not affect Grant Thornton’s unqualified report on our consolidated
financial statements for 2004 included in this Report. Please refer to Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” for a further discussion.
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The certifications of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attached as
Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this Report include, in paragraph 4 of such certifications, information
concerning the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. These officers believe these certifications to be accurate, despite our inability to have
completed fully the assessment required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, because we did have
procedures in place during 2004 to detect errors in our systems. Such certifications should be read in
conjunction with the information contained in this Item 9A for a more complete understanding of the
matters covered by such certifications.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Amendment to Credit Agreement

On March 31, 2005, the Company and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a amendment
of its Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 7, 2003, as further amended (the
“Credit Agreement”), with General Electric Capital Corporation, as agent for the lenders, Bank of
America, N.A_, for itself and as syndicate agent, and GMAC Commercial Finance LLC, for itself and as

documentation agent.

The amendment provides for the following: (1) borrowings of the Company are no longer collateralized by
the assets, including accounts receivable, inventory and fixed assets, of our Canadian subsidiary; (2) the
specified levels of fixed charge coverage has been modified for 2005 and thereafter; (3) our Canadian
subsidiary was released from its obligations under a guaranty and security agreement; (4) the Company’s
pledge of stock of its Canadian subsidiary to the lenders was reduced from a 100% to a 65% pledge of
stock; and (5) a waiver of compliance with the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio for the quarter ended
on December 31, 2004.

The description set forth above is qualified by the Waiver and Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement filed herewith as exhibit 10.15.

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information in our
Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “2005 Proxy Statement”) set forth under the captions “Election of Directors,”
“Corporate Governance” and “Information with respect to Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Compliance.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information in our 2005
Proxy Statement set forth under captions “Management Information-Executive Compensation” and
“Corporate Governance—Directors Compensation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information in our 2005
Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “Information with Respect to Section 16(a) Beneficial

Ownership Compliance,” “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.”
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information in our 2005
Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “Information with Respect to Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Compliance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information in our 2005
Proxy Statement set forth under the captions “Audit and Non-Audit Fees.” : :

ITEM 15.

(@

PART 1V

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(1

@

©)

The Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Registrant Financial
Statements under Item 8 of this Report is incorporated herein by reference as the
list of Financial Statements required as part of this Report.

The following financial schedule and related report for the years 2004, 2003 and
2002 is submitted herewith:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Schedule 11
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required, not applicable or
the information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Exhibits.

The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated by reference as the list of
exhibits required as part of this Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC.
(Registrant)

/s/ Lawrence 1. Sills
Lawrence L. Sills
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ James J. Burke
James J. Burke
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

New York, New York
March 31, 2005

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Lawrence 1. Sills and James J. Burke, jointly and severally, as his attorneys-in-
fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby rectifying and confirming all
that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

March 31, 2005 {s/ Lawrence I. Sills
Lawrence 1. Sills
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 31, 2005 /s/ James J. Burke
Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2005 {s/ Robert M. Gerrity
Robert M. Gerrity, Director

March 31, 2005 /s/ John L. Kelsey
John L. Kelsey, Director




March 31, 2005

March 31, 2005

March 31, 2005

March 31, 2005

March 31, 2005

{s/

Kenneth A. Lehman
Kenneth A. Lehman, Director

[s/

Arthur S. Sills

/s/

Arthur S, Sills, Director

Frederick D. Sturdivant

Is/

Is/

Frederick D. Sturdivant, Director

William H. Tumer

William H. Turner, Director

Richard S. Ward

Richard S. Ward, Director
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number

2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2003, by and among Dana Corporation,
Automotive Controls Corp., BWD Automotive Corporation, Pacer Industries, Inc., Ristance
_ Corporation, Engine Controls Distribution Services, Inc., as Sellers, and Standard Motor Products,
Inc., as Buyer (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
February 10, 2003).

3.1 Restated By-Laws, dated May 23, 1996, filed as an Exhibit of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996.

32 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated July 31, 1990, filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form [0-K for the year ended December 31, 1990.

33 Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation, dated February 15, 1996, filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1996.

4.1 Form of Subordinated Debenture Indenture (inciuding form of convertible debenture) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to its Registration Statement on
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-79177), filed on July 20, 1999).

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of February 15, 1996, between Standard Motor Products, Inc. and
Registrar & Transfer Co., as rights agent (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 001-04743), filed on April 11, 1996).

4.3 Form of Share Ownership Agreement by and between Standard Motor Products, Inc. and Dana
Corporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 10, 2003).

10.1  Employee Stock Ownership Plan and Trust, dated January 1, 1989 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989).

10.2  Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated August 15, 1994 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1994).

103 1994 Omnibus Stock Option Plan of Standard Motor Products, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 33-58655), filed on April 17,
1995).

104 1996 Ihdependent Outside Directors Stock Option Plan of Standard Motors Products, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996).

10.5 1994 Omnibus Stock Option Plan of Standard Motor Products, Inc., as amended

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8
(Registration No. 33-51565), filed on May 1, 1998).
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10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

18

STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
10.6  Credit Agreement, dated April 27, 2001, among Standard Motor Products, Inc. and subsidiaries, as

Borrowers and GE Capital Corp. as Agent and Lender, GMAC Commercial Credit LLC, on Lender
and Syndication Agent and Bank of America, N.A,, as Lender and Documentation Agent
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2001).

1994 Omnibus Stock Option Plan of Standard Motor Products, Inc., as amended and restated,

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration
No. 333-59524), filed on April 25, 2001).

Supplemental Compensation Plan effective October 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001).

Change of Control Agreement, dated December 12, 2001, between Standard Motor Products, Inc.
and John Gethin (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001).

Change of Control Agreement, dated December 12, 2001, between Standard Motor Products, Inc.
and James Burke (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2001).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2003, among Standard Motor
Products, Inc., as Borrower and General Electric Capital Corp. and Bank of America, as Lenders
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 10,
2003).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated June 27, 2003, among
Standard Motor Products, Inc., as Borrower and General Electric Capital Corp. and Bank of
America, as Lenders (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2003).

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 11, 2004, among
Standard Motor Products, Inc., as Borrower, and General Electric Capital Corp. and Bank of
America, as Lenders (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report in Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated August 11, 2004, among
Standard Motor Products, Inc., as Borrower, and General Electric Capital Corp. and Bank of
America, as Lenders (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report in Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2004).

Waiver and Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March
31, 2005, among Standard Motor Products, Inc., as Borrower, and General Electric Capital Corp.
and Bank of America, as Lenders.

Letter from Grant Thomnton LLP re Change in Accounting Principles.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
21 List of Subsidiaries of Standard Motor Products, Inc.
23 Consent of Independent Auditors —- KPMG LLP.
24 Power of Attorney (see signature page to Annual Report on Form 10-K).

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

312 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer fumished pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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STANDARD MOTOR PRODUCTS. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additions
Balance at Charged to
beginning costs and Balance at
Description of vear expenses Other Deductions end of year
Year ended December 31, 2004: ) :
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3,009,000 $ 404,000 $ 5,163,000(1) $ 1,154,000 $ 7,422,000
Allowance for discounts 2,000,000 12,319,000 — 12,387,000 1,932,000
$ 5,009,000 $ 12,723,000 $ 5,163,000 $ 13,541,000 $ 9,354,000
Allowance for sales returns $ 24,115,000 $ 86,452,000 $ 194,000(2) 3 87,634,000 $ 23,127,000

Allowance for inventory valuation  § 41,803,000 $ 1,487,000 $ 430,000(2) § 4,082,000 $ 39,638,000

Year ended mber 31. 2003:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ~ § 3,568,000 $ 813,000 $ 330,000(2) § 1,702,000 $ 3,009,000
Allowance for discounts 1,314,000 9,615,000 800,000 (2) 9,729,000 2,000,000
$ 4,882,000 $ 10,428,000 $ 1,130,000 $ 11,431,000 $ 5,009,000

Allowance for sales returns $ 16,341,000 $ 83,087,000 $ 7,013,000 $ 82,326,000 $ 24,115,000

Allowance for inventory valuation  § 14,291,000 § 5,613,000 $ 27,442,000 $ 5,543,000 $ 41,803,000

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Allowance for doubtful accounts  § 2,917,000 $ 489,000 § 162,000(2) § - 3 3,568,000
Allowance for discounts 1,445,000 8,611,000 — 8,742,000 1,314,000
$ 4,362,000 $ 9,100,000 $ 162,000 $ 8,742,000 $ 4,882,000

Allowance for sales returns $ 18,167,000 $ 73,030,000 $ —_ $ 74,856,000 $ 16,341,000
Allowance for inventory valuation  § 13,895,000 $ 1,265,000 $ — $ 869,000 $ 14,291,000

0] The Company previously presented the reserve for accounts receivable balances over 90 days past
due as a reduction to the gross receivable balance instead of as part of the allowance for doubtful
accounts. In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company decided to record the $5,163,000 of accounts
receivable over 90 days past due as part of gross accounts receivable instead of as an offset to the
allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no impact on the net accounts receivable recorded on
the consolidated balance sheets,

)] Allowances acquired through acquisitions.



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lawrence I. Sills, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Standard Motor Products, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this annual
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting,

Date: March 31, 2005

/s/ Lawrence I. Sills
Lawrence I. Sills
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, James J. Burke, certify that;

1.

2,

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Standard Motor Products, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this annual
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of
an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent function);

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2005

{s/ James ]. Burke
James J. Burke
Chief Financial Officer
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